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1.0	 Purpose
Working Paper 2020/02 – The Role of a Directors’ Report: An analysis of the legislative requirements of selected 
Commonwealth countries reviews and compares the extent directors’ reports are discussed in the legislation of 
four selected Commonwealth countries: New Zealand, Australia, Canada and the United Kingdom (UK). 

This working paper is designed to contribute to the McGuinness Institute’s Report 17: Building a Reporting 
Framework Fit for Purpose. 

The aim of this working paper is to identify what characteristics these four countries share (commonalities), 
how they are unique (differences) and whether there are any implications or lessons for New Zealand.

2.0 Method
2.1 Research questions
The method developed for this working paper was based upon a series of research questions that were applied 
consistently across the selected Commonwealth countries (see Figure 1 below). To conduct a meaningful 
legislative comparison between the selected jurisdictions, the method was further refined depending on whether 
the term ‘directors’ report’ was included within the relevant legislation or not. 

Yes No

Is the term 
‘directors’  
report’ in 

legislation?

(a)	 If yes, what are the content 
requirements?

(b)	 Does the directors’ report form part of 
the ‘statutory financial statements’?

(c)	 Does the legislation set out a clear 
purpose for the directors’ report?

(d)	 What entities are required to prepare 
such information?

(e)	 Who is the audience for this 
information?

(f)	 Is the directors’ report required to be 
‘filed’ and ‘publicly accessible’?

(g)	 Is the directors’ report assured?

(h)	 Are there any other relevant obligations 
for director responsibility in legislation?

(i)	 If no, what else is available?

(ii)	 What entities are required to prepare 
this information?

(iii)	What entities are required to ‘file’ 
and make ‘publicly accessible’ this 
information?

(iv)	Are there any other relevant obligations 
for director responsibility in legislation?

Figure 1: Research question development

The application of this method generated consistent and comparable analysis between the selected jurisdictions. 
Section 2.3 sets out the Institutes’s assumptions and Section 2.4 lists known limitations that exist. Section 3.0 
aims to answer each of the research questions and Section 4 sets out the results and our conclusions.
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2.2 Assumptions
The Institute made the following assumptions while researching this working paper:

1.	 For the purposes of this report, a directors’ report is (i) any external regular report that is required under 
law to discuss strategic issues and (ii) must be signed by a director or directors.

2.	 For the purpose of this report, a directors’ responsibility statement is not a directors’ report. Directors 
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements on behalf of the entity. Such a statement is 
published in annual reports to make clear to readers that the directors consider the financial statements 
meet all relevant accounting and assurance standards (see the UK example of the Aviva annual report in 
Appendix 7). 

3.	 Although the annual report and financial statements are different documents, the annual report often 
requires the financial statements to be included in the annual report (see s 211(1)(b) of the Companies 
Act 1993 in Appendix 1). However the filing requirements are very different. For example, large overseas 
companies and large subsidiaries of overseas companies (see s 45 of the Financial Reporting Act 2013 in 
Appendix 1) are only required to file their financial statements (not annual reports) on the Companies 
Register under ss 207D and 207E of the Companies Act 1993. In contrast NZX-listed companies who are 
considered e-reporting entities, are required to make their annual report available online on the company 
website for a period of five years under cl 61D of the Financial Markets Conduct Regulations 2014 and 
are also required to file the annual report as part of their NZX Main Board Announcements on the NZX 
website.

4.	 That there is no difference between a ‘directors’ report’ and a ‘chair’s report’. Different jurisdictions use 
different names, but in New Zealand and Australia the chair’s report is frequently used.

5.	 That there is a clear distinction between preparing a report, distributing a report (to a specific group of 
individuals such as shareholders), filing a report (as a matter of public record) and assuring a report (as a 
means of providing independent verification to external parties).

6.	 There is a distinction between an ‘annual return’ (being a basic return required by the Companies Office) 
and an ‘annual report’. When looking at other jurisdictions, it is important to keep this in mind.

2.3 Limitations
There are a number of limitations and parameters of this research: 

1.	 The Institute, to the best of its ability, has included the most relevant legislation found for each selected 
Commonwealth jurisdiction. It is not a comprehensive search of all possible legislation. Please note that no 
qualified commercial lawyer was involved in preparing this research paper.

2.	 The research covers legislative requirements and excludes stock exchange listing requirements, for example, 
listing rules that require a company to prepare corporate governance information. 

3.	 The Institute only focused on federal legislation; provincial legislation was beyond the scope of this 
working paper.

a.	 Australia is made up of a number of states and territories. While the Corporations Act 2001 
appears to be the primary piece of legislation applicable across all states and territories, the Institute 
acknowledges that additional disclosure/filing requirements may exist under specific statutes. 

b.	 Canada is made up of a number of provinces and territories. Corporations are able to incorporate at 
a provincial level or a federal level, and as a result adhere to different preparing and filing obligations 
determined by their place of incorporation. From an initial examination, the provincial legislation 
is much more detailed in terms of disclosures/filing (particularly given each province appears to 
have its own corporate legislation and Registrar). The federal legislation (being the Canada Business 
Corporations Act 1985), requires limited disclosures.

4.	 Auditing standards are not always publicly, freely available (for example, a fee is required to gain access to 
the Canadian International Standard of Auditing [ISA] 720, referred to in Canada as the CAS 720, which 
the Institute did not pay. However, similar to New Zealand, the Canadian International Standard of 
Auditing [ISA] 720 is based on the International Standard of Auditing [ISA] 720). Footnotes indicate where 
this affects this research. 
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3.1 New Zealand

Research questions Answers

Is the term ‘directors’ report’  
stipulated in legislation?

No, although s 208 of the Companies Act 1993 implies the whole 
annual report is in fact a directors’ report. See Legal Opinion 2020/01: 
Obligations on directors to report risk in New Zealand annual reports 
under the Companies Act 1993.

(i) What is available? The law has not changed significantly since 1993, making it nearly 30 
years old. The directors are required to disclose certain information to 
shareholders within an annual report. The content is listed in s 211(1)(a)–
(k) of the Companies Act 1993. However, the content requirements are 
very narrow, see Appendix 1. There is no mention of a ‘directors’ report’. 

There is an obligation to report what ‘the board believes is material 
for shareholders’ to know, but that obligation is removed if the board 
believes such a disclosure would be harmful to the business of the 
company. 

The relationship between s 208 and s 211 is important; s 208 creates the 
obligation to report and s 211 states what should be reported. 

211 Contents of annual report 

(1)	 Every annual report for a company must be in writing and be 
dated and, subject to subsection (3), must—

(a)	 describe, so far as the board believes is material for the 
shareholders to have an appreciation of the state of the 
company’s affairs and will not be harmful to the business of 
the company or of any of its subsidiaries, any change during 
the accounting period in—

(i)	 the nature of the business of the company or any of its 
subsidiaries; or

(ii)	 the classes of business in which the company has an 
interest, whether as a shareholder of another company 
or otherwise;

(ii) What entities are required  
to prepare this information?

Selected companies must prepare an annual report (see s 208 (1)) 
but they have the option to opt-out of disclosing all of the required 
information under ss 208(4) and 211(3) of the Companies Act 1993.

(iii) What entities are required 
to ‘file’ and make ‘publicly 
accessible’ this information?

Annual reports are not required to be filed on the Registrar.

However NZX-listed entities must make their annual reports publicly 
accessible. In this case, the annual report is made available when 
uploaded onto the announcements section of the NZX website 
(company announcements are available back to 2010). NZX-listed 
entities are also required to have their annual report publicly available 
on the company website for a period of five years under  
cl 61D of the Financial Markets Conduct Regulations 2014.

(iv) Are there any other relevant 
obligations for director 
responsibility in legislation?

No. However, ss 131–138 of the Companies Act 1993 set out the 
principles/values that a director of a company must uphold. 

3.0 Analysis
Sections 3.1 to 3.4 answer the research questions listed in Figure 1. Legislation directly referred to in-text can 
be found in Appendices 1 to 4.
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Research questions Answers

Is the term ‘directors’ report’  
stipulated in legislation?

Yes, see s 298 of the Corporations Act 2001.

(a) What are the  
content requirements?

What is contained in the directors’ report is determined by entity 
type. Section 299 of the Corporations Act 2001 details the general 
information while ss 300, 300A and 300B provide more specific 
requirements based on entity type. 

(b) Does the directors’ report 
form part of the ‘statutory 
financial statements’?

No.

(c) Does the legislation set 
out a clear purpose for the 
directors’ report?

Not stated.

(d) What entities are required  
to prepare such information?

All entities excluding certain ‘small proprietary companies’ are 
required to prepare an annual directors’ report (see s 292 of the 
Corporations Act 2001).  
 
Entities that are incorporated outside of Australia are not required 
to prepare a directors’ report under s 292 of the Corporations  
Act 2001.

(e) Who is the audience for  
this information?

Not stated.

(f) Is the directors’ report 
required to be ‘filed’ and 
‘publicly accessible’?

Yes. The annual report includes the directors’ report and this 
must be lodged with the Australian Security and Investments 
Commission (ASIC) under s 319 of the Corporations Act 2001.

(g) Is the directors’  
report assured?

Part of the auditor’s responsibilities under ASA 720 The Auditor’s 
Responsibilities Relating to Other Information includes ensuring 
that information within the directors’ report, found in the annual 
report, is consistent with the financial report.

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires the directors’ 
report to include an ‘auditor independence declaration’ that 
declares the that the auditors believe there has been no 
contravention to the Act and the accounting and auditing 
standards. The report must also be signed by a director under  
s 298(2)(c) of the same Act.

(h) Are there any other  
relevant obligations for  
director responsibility  
in legislation?

No. However, ss 180–184 of the Corporations Act 2001 outlines the 
general obligations/principles that a director must uphold.

3.2 Australia
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3.3 Canada

Research questions Answers

Is the term ‘directors’ report’  
stipulated in legislation?

No, but it could be included in provincial legislation.1 

(i) What is available? Entities are required to prepare financial statements and 
diversity statements under ss 155 and 172 of the Canada Business 
Corporations Act 1985.

The content of the financial statements and the diversity 
statement are included in ss 72 and 72.2(4) of the Canada 
Business Corporations Regulations 2001. 

The financial statements are required to be approved by 
directors under s 158 of the Canada Business Corporations  
Act 1985.

(ii) What entities are required  
to prepare this information?

Companies incorporated under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act 1985.

(iii) What entities are required 
to ‘file’ and make ‘publicly 
accessible’ this information?

Distributing corporations2 with more than one shareholder are 
required to register their financial statements with Corporations 
Canada if they have not already ‘filed similar information 
with any of the provincial or territorial securities commission’ 
(Corporations Canada, 2015). These documents are available to 
the public upon request (Corporations Canada, 2015).

(iv) Are there any other  
relevant obligations for  
director responsibility  
in legislation?

No. However, s 122 of the Canadian Business Corporations Act 
1985 outlines principles/obligations directors are required to 
uphold.

1	 This research has only looked at federal laws. Corporations in Canada have the option to incorporate provincially or federally 
(under the Canada Business Corporations Act 1985). Provincial statutes sit outside the scope of this research. It is evident from 
a brief scope of provincial corporate law that the disclosure requirements are much more in-depth, for example, corporate law 
in British Columbia requires the corporation to file an annual report on the Registrar (see s 51 of the Business Corporations Act 
2002).

2        ‘Distributing Corporation’ typically means a corporation that files documents with a securities commission and sells shares on 
a stock exchange (see subsection 2 (1) of the CBCA (Canada Business Corporations Act 1985) regulations for a more detailed 
definition). Distributing corporations must comply with the registration and prospectus filing requirements and other related 
procedures set out in the CBCA (Canada Business Corporations Act 1985) and, since they are also typically reporting issuers 
under provincial/territorial securities laws they must also comply with those laws or U.S. securities laws’ (Corporations Canada, 
2018).
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Research questions Answers

Is the term ‘directors’ report’  
stipulated in legislation?

Yes, see s 415 of the Companies Act 2006.

(a) What are the  
content requirements?

What is contained in the directors’ report is determined  
by the size of the entity. General information required is set out 
in ss 416 and 418 of the Companies Act 2006. Further content 
required in the directors’ report is included in Schedule 7 of The 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008.

(b) Does the directors’ report  
form part of the ‘statutory 
financial statements’?

No.

(c) Does the legislation set  
out a clear purpose for the 
directors’ report?

Not stated.

(d) What entities are required  
to prepare such information?

Section 415(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires all entities to 
prepare a directors’ report with varying degrees of requirements, 
with the exception of micro-entities.

(e) Who is the audience for  
this information?

Not stated.

(f) Is the directors’ report  
required to be ‘filed’ and 
‘publicly accessible’?

Yes. Accounts are required to be filed to the Companies House 
(Registrar) under ss 444–447 of the Companies Act 2006. It is 
optional for a small company to file their directors’ report under s 
444A. Unlimited companies are not required to file their accounts 
under s 448.

(g) Is the directors’  
report assured?

Yes. Under s A53-4 of ISA (UK) 720: The auditor’s responsibilities 
relating to other information (Revised November 2019). The 
changes to the standard further embedded UK law and expanded 
auditor responsibility, particularly in relation to the auditing of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code (FRC UK, 2019a, pp. 45–46). 
Changes to ISA (UK) 720 also saw changes to the definitions 
of what constitutes a ‘misstatement of other information’ (See 
Appendix 5) (FRC UK, 2019a, p. 48). There are also measures in 
place under ss 415 and 419 of the Companies Act 2006 to make 
directors culpable for misleading or incorrect statements.

(h) Are there any other  
relevant obligations for 
director responsibility  
in legislation?

Section 414A of the Companies Act 2006 requires the directors of 
a company to prepare a strategic report, which forms part of the 
annual report. All companies are required to prepare a strategic 
report unless they have a small companies exemption under  
s 414B.

Under s 420, directors of a quoted or traded company are also 
required to prepare a ‘directors’ remuneration report’.

Both of these reports are required to be signed by a director.

Sections 171–174 outline the general obligations/principles that a 
director must uphold.

3.4 United Kingdom
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4.0 Key results
This research found that New Zealand has a significant infrastructure gap that needs addressing. Like any 
public information that is relied upon by third parties, this raises issues about trust, quality, and reliability, 
and therefore the need for independent assurance over such information.

Our research found that the directors’ report is a key instrument in maintaining the checks and balances 
necessary for a robust and transparent governance system across similar jurisdictions. Appendices 1–4 sets 
out the evidence.

Appendix 1: New Zealand Regulation, in particular s 208 and s 211 of the Companies Act 1993.

Appendix 2: Australian Regulation,  in particular s 298 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Appendix 3: Canadian Regulation, in particular s 122 of the Canada Business Corporations Act 1985.

Appendix 4: United Kingdom Regulation, in particular s 415 of the (UK) Companies Act 2006.

The results are summarised in Sections 4.1 (commonalities) and 4.2 (differences). A brief discussion on the 
implications for New Zealand is contained in Section 4.3 and suggestions for a way forward is outlined in 
Section 4.4.

What we found:

(i)	 New Zealand does not use the term ‘directors’ report’ in legislation.  
	 It is clear that New Zealand is behind at least two other Commonwealth jurisdictions: UK and 		
	 Australia (and possibly Canada), despite sharing many structural commonalities. A directors’ 		
	 report is becoming a useful mechanism to improve reporting to shareholders and wider 		
	 stakeholders.

For example, in regard to reporting on emissions, UK quoted companies, large unquoted 
companies and large limited liability partnerships (LLPs) are required under the Companies 
(Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 
2018 to disclose in their directors’ report key information on annual emissions and their intensity 
ratio (in a New Zealand context this requirement would cover publicly listed and selected private 
unlisted companies). The 2018 Regulations came into force on 1 April 2019. Directors’ reports 
form part of UK companies’ filing obligations with the Companies House (DEFRA & BEIS, 2019, 
p. 35). See also the discussion in the Institutes’s Discussion Paper 2019/01 – The Climate Reporting 
Emergency (McGuinness Institute, 2019, pp. 86–88).

(ii)	 New Zealand places ‘weak’ information obligations on directors. 
	 The ability for directors not to disclose material strategic information to shareholders if they 		
	 believe it would ‘be harmful to the business of the company’ should be a concern to 			 
	 shareholders (see s 211 (1)(a) of the Companies Act 1993). Given that it is up to the 			 
	 directors to make this decision, it is hard to see a situation where a shareholder could challenge a 	
	 company over a lack of strategic information. This also raises questions of how these obligations 	
	 are reviewed (e.g. by the FMA) and who is working hard to ensure shareholders obtain useful and 	
	 timely information from directors.

(iii)	 New Zealand is slow to adopt the directors’ report as an instrument to inform shareholders 	
	 and wider stakeholders about the strategic operations of a company. 
	 Internationally, the directors’ report compliments the financial statements, and is the major 		
	 instrument that directors can use to share reliable information about their business model to a wide 	
	 range of interested parties. In New Zealand, all reporting is to the shareholders only. Part 12 of 	
	 the Companies Act 1993 (s 208–218) makes it clear (via its heading) that it relates to ‘Disclosure by 	
	 companies’ [followed by] ‘Disclosure to shareholders’. Therefore the obligation on directors is to 	
	 only consider shareholders. 

	 This is particularly concerning given that COVID-19 and climate change will significantly impact 	
	 the viability of many businesses.
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4.1 Commonalities 
1.	 All countries selected are part of the Commonwealth.

2.	 All countries selected are major trading partners.

3.	 All countries have a stock exchange (in New Zealand, the NZX; in Australia, the ASX; in Canada, the 
TSX; and in the UK, the LSE).

4.	 All countries follow international accounting and assurance standards (prepared and issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (IAASB) respectively). The aim is to ensure investors and other primary users provide 
information that is understandable, comparable and trustworthy.

5.	 All countries have an External Reporting Board (XRB) (or equivalent) that issues national equivalents to 
the international reporting and assurance standards. In Australia, the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) and the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB); in Canada, the 
Financial Reporting Standards and Assurance Board (FRAS); and in the UK, the Financial Reporting 
Council (FRC UK).

6.	 All countries have a Reserve Bank (or equivalent) to manage financial stability (in Australia, the Reserve 
Bank of Australia; in Canada, the Bank of Canada; and in the UK, the Bank of England).

7.	 All countries have a Financial Markets Authority (FMA) (or equivalent) to regulate financial markets. 
In Australia, there is the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC); in Canada, the 
Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA); and in the UK, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA).

8.	 All countries have an Institute of Directors (IoD) (or equivalent) to support standards of practice of 
governance among directors. In Australia, there is the Australian Institute of Company Directors; in 
Canada, the Institute of Corporate Directors; and in the UK, the Institute of Directors.

9.	 All countries directly, or indirectly, have expectations that directors need to report to shareholders. 
However, as illustrated in the UK example in (i) above, the audience of the directors’ report in law is 
beyond that of shareholder. Although UK legislation does not state who the audience of the directors’ 
report is, recent reporting requirements aim to align with the policy goal of reducing emissions.

10.	 None of the jurisdictions set out a clear purpose for the directors’ report or alternative disclosure 
requirements. However, all four jurisdictions include duties/principles which the directors must uphold 
within their position, and which must drive the disclosures made within the report.

11.	 All auditors providing an audit report on the financial statements are required to apply IAS 720 
(International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 720, the Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information). 
This means ensuring that the full content of the annual report is read in conjunction with the financial 
statements to ensure that there is no conflicting or misleading statements between financial and non-
financial information. The New Zealand equivalent notes the following: 

1. This International Standard on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISA (NZ)) deals with the auditor’s 
responsibilities relating to other information, whether financial or non-financial information (other 
than financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon), included in an entity’s annual report. 
An entity’s annual report may be a single document or a combination of documents that serve the 
same purpose.

[...]

12. For purposes of the ISAs (NZ), the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

(a) Annual report – A document, or combination of documents, prepared typically on an annual 
basis by management or those charged with governance in accordance with law, regulation or 
custom, the purpose of which is to provide owners (or similar stakeholders) with information on 
the entity’s operations and the entity’s financial results and financial position as set out in the 
financial statements. An annual report contains or accompanies the financial statements and the 
auditor’s report thereon and usually includes information about the entity’s developments, its 
future outlook and risks and uncertainties, a statement by the entity’s governing body, and reports 
covering governance matters. (Ref: Para. A1–A5)

(b) Misstatement of the other information – A misstatement of the other information exists when 
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the other information is incorrectly stated or otherwise misleading (including because it omits 
or obscures information necessary for a proper understanding of a matter disclosed in the other 
information). (Ref: Para. A6–A7)

Reading and Considering the Other Information

14. The auditor shall read the other information and, in doing so shall: 

	 (a) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information and the 
financial statements. As the basis for this consideration, the auditor shall, to evaluate their 
consistency, compare selected amounts or other items in the other information (that are intended 
to be the same as, to summarise, or to provide greater detail about, the amounts or other items in 
the financial statements) with such amounts or other items in the financial statements; and

	 (b) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information and the 
auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit, in the context of the audit evidence obtained and 
conclusions reached in the audit. 

15. While reading the other information in accordance with paragraph 14, the auditor shall remain alert 
for indications that the other information not related to the financial statement or the auditors 
knowledge obtained in the audit appears to be materially misstated. (XRB, 2015, pp. 6, 7, 8).

Importantly, the United Kingdom’s FRC has added further text to the standard, the implications of which 
are discussed further below (see Appendix 5 for more detail on the additional text).

4.2 Differences
4.2.1 Types of approach

How directors’ reports are discussed in legislation can be illustrated using a continuum. The United 
Kingdom and Australia have similarities, and have created a directors’ report in law (an additional 
instrument) and integrated the director’s report with other documents in law. To explain this, the new 
instrument is integrated into a package of reporting documents. See Figure 2 below.

Figure 2: Continuum of extent directors’ report is referred to in legislation

4.2 Differences 

4.2.1 Types of approaches
How directors’ reports are discussed in legislation can be characterised as three different types, as shown by 
Figure 2 below:

Directors’ report  
stipulated  

in legislation

Fully integrated
Type 1

Partially integrated
Type 2

Not integrated
Type 3

Directors’ report  
not stipulated  
in legislation

United Kingdom Australia Canada New Zealand

 
 

Type 1: Fully integrated 

Those countries that have ensured the content of the directors’ report is an integral part of the legal and 
governance system for the whole country (i.e. UK and Australia). We note that the UK has developed a 
much more integrated approach than Australia, such as in the use of the Strategic Report (see Section 3) and 
the additional text in ISA (UK) 720 (as illustrated in Section 3 and Appendix 5). 

Type 2: Partially integrated	  

Those countries that have delegated disclosure requirements to the state-level, where some states have 
ensured the directors’ report is an integral part of the legal and governance system (i.e. Canada).

Type 3: Not integrated

Those countries that have not embedded or used the term ‘directors’ report’ in law (i.e. New Zealand).
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4.2.2 Each type of approach 
These different types are discussed in more detail below:

Characteristics of Type 1: Fully integrated directors’ report (i.e. UK and Australia)

1.	 Entities are required under legislation to prepare a directors’ report and greater responsibilities are placed on 
the company directors in these jurisdictions.

2.	 Company directors’ are required to sign the report. For Australia, see s 298(2)(c) of the Corporations Act 
2001 (Appendix 2 of this working paper) and for the UK, see s 419 of the Companies Act 2006 (Appendix 4 
of this working paper). 

3.	 Directors’ reports are required to be filed as part of the annual report in both the UK and Australia, and in 
most cases are publicly accessible. 

a.	 In the United Kingdom, ss 444–447 of the Companies Act 2006 (See Appendix 4) outlines which reports 
different types of entities are required to file on the Companies Register. Medium-sized, quoted and 
unquoted companies are required to file their annual report with the Register while small companies 
only need to file financial statements and a directors’ report. Unlimited companies are not required to 
file anything if they meet conditions outlined in s 448 of the Companies Act 2006. 

b.	 In Australia, s 319 of the Corporation Act 2001 (See Appendix 2) requires ‘a company, registered 	
scheme or disclosing entity’ to file their ‘annual director’s report’ with ASIC. 

4.	 Directors’ reports in Australia and the UK provide a space for strategy, business models and non-financial 
information. Given their place in legislation, this enables much greater rigor in guidance, as well as assurance 
for investors and other users. 

5.	 Placing all the content requirements of a directors’ report together in legislation provides a good platform to 
enable users to locate such content requirements easily.

6.	 The UK legislation requires three reports to be signed off by the director; the directors’ report, strategic 
report and the directors’ remuneration report. This places the responsibility on directors for assuring this 
information in the annual report.

7.	 The UK has the most comprehensive disclosure requirements. Directors are required to prepare both a 
directors’ report and a strategic report which, together with the financial statements, provide a detailed 
narrative of the business in both financial and non-financial terms.

8.	 Additional requirements for listed/quoted entities are included in legislation.

9.	 The UK has strengthened its revised version of ISA 720 (International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 720, the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information) by adding additional text (see grey text in Appendix 
5). An explanation of when additions to an IAS can be modified is contained in Appendix 6. The reason this 
additional information is added is as follows:

Para 1-1. This ISA (UK) also deals with certain additional obligations imposed by law or regulation on the 
auditor to report on statutory other information, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit.

To summarise:

a.	 The UK’s revised ISA 720 specifies and widens the definition an annual report (see Appendix 5).

b.	 The UK’s revised ISA 720 makes clear that when taking into account both the size and the nature 
of the inconsistency or misstatement, both quantitative and qualitative factors should be taken into 
consideration (it discusses political donations as an example).

10.	 For the purposes of this report, a Directors’ Responsibility Statement is not a directors’ report. But it is 
worth pointing out that both the UK and Australia have two different ways of providing assurance to 
readers of the annual report as to the boards relationship with the auditors:

a.	 In the United Kingdom, a ‘statement as to disclosures to auditors’ forms part of the directors’ report (see 
s 418 of the Companies Act 2006 in Appendix 4). However, in this case it is directors (not auditors) that 
are required to disclose that ‘so far as the director[s] [are] aware, there is no relevant audit information 
of which the company’s auditor is unaware’ that might be material to the audit. See an example in 
Appendix 7.
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b.	 In Australia, an ‘auditor’s declaration’ forms part of the directors’ report (see ss 298 and 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 in Appendix 2). This places the onus on the auditor to state that there have 
been no contraventions during the auditing process, both in accordance with the Corporations Act, 
and with the auditing standards that the independent auditor is required to audit against. Interestingly, 
the director takes responsibility for inserting this statement by signing the directors’ report (within 
which the copy of the declaration is included). See an example in Appendix 7.

These mechanisms appear to enforce the responsibility of directors and the auditor to avoid any 
contraventions, and place importance on communications between the two parties in the auditing process. 
New Zealand has ISA (NZ) 580 – Written Representations, but it is not as comprehensive (see recommendations 
in Section 4.4).3

Characteristics of Type 2: Partially integrated directors’ report (i.e. Canada)

1.	 Canada’s federal corporate legislation relies on provincial legislation for more comprehensive disclosure 
requirements.

2.	 Partial integration makes it difficult to understand Canada’s corporate reporting system as a whole.

3.	 Corporate legislation only requires the filing of financial statements with Corporations Canada (Registrar), 
it does not require an entity to file an annual report.

4.	 There are numerous registrars in Canada due to them being provincially based. However, the website 
‘Canada’s Business Registries’ provides a single platform for users to search companies across all registries 
(Canada’s Business Registries, n.d.). 

Characteristics of Type 3: Not integrated/No directors’ report (i.e. New Zealand)

1.	 The term ‘directors’ report’ is not mentioned in law.

2.	 Instead the term ‘board’ is used but it is not discussed in terms of a report prepared by the board or a 
directors’ report per se. Section 211(1) of the Companies Act 1993 states:

(1)	 Every annual report for a company must be in writing and be dated and, subject to subsection 
(3), must—

(a)	  describe, so far as the board believes is material for the shareholders to have an 
appreciation of the state of the company’s affairs and will not be harmful to the business 
of the company or of any of its subsidiaries, any change during the accounting period in—

(i)	 the nature of the business of the company or any of its subsidiaries; or

(i)	 the classes of business in which the company has an interest, whether as a 
shareholder of another company or otherwise;

3.	 New Zealand seems unique in that users of the directors’ report in legislation is particularly weak in that it 
only refers to what the ‘directors believe’ is material for the shareholders.

4.	 The lack of separation between the Chair on behalf of the Board and the CEO appears to be an emerging 
and, in our view, worrying phenomenon. The 1992 report The Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance 
(known as the ‘Cadbury Report’), produced by The Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate 
Governance & Gee and Co. Ltd, was clear on the need to separate the board from management:

Para 4.9: Given the importance and particular nature of the chairman’s role, it should in principle  
be separate from that of the chief executive. If the two roles are combined in one person, it represents a 
considerable concentration of power. We recommend, therefore, that there should be a clearly accepted 
division of responsibilities at the head of a company, which will ensure a balance of power and authority, 
such that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision. Where the chairman is also the chief 
executive, it is essential that there should be a strong and independent element on the board.

Appendix 8 showcases two examples of directors’ reports from New Zealand. The first, prepared by 
EBOS, shows a report prepared jointly (signed by both the chair and the CEO). The second, prepared 

3	 11.1 The auditor shall request those charged with governance to provide a written representation that: 
a. They have provided the auditor with all relevant information and access as agreed in the terms of the audit engagement and 
b. All transactions have been recorded and are reflected in the financial statements (Ref: Para. A7-A 9, A14,  A22).  
See https://www.xrb.govt.nz/dmsdocument/3039.
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by Fletcher Building Limited, shows a report just signed by the chair. From a cursory comparison of 
directors’ reports from New Zealand organisations with those of the three jurisdictions selected for 
this working paper, we believe New Zealand (and possibly Australia) are unique in allowing directors’ 
reports to be prepared jointly by an organisation’s chair and CEO. Further analysis is required to 
confirm the degree that this merging of CEO and Board reporting obligation has become common 
practice.

5.	 Annual reports, as a general rule, are not required by legislation to be made public, unlike Australia and 
the UK (see Section 3). The exception is NZX-listed entities.

6.	 While NZX-listed entities have additional requirements under the 2020 NZX Listing Rules, it is voluntary 
for all other entities who are required to prepare an annual report to disclose any information beyond 
those required in s 211(1) of the Companies Act 1993 (see Section 3 of this working paper).

7.	 Filing obligations in New Zealand are limited to large overseas companies or subsidiaries of overseas 
companies (see ss 207D and 207E of the Companies Act 1993 in Appendix 1). Private New Zealand 
companies have no obligations to publicly file financial and/or non-financial information. The Institute 
often refers to these companies as ‘opaque’ companies.

8.	 Research for Working Paper 2018/01 – NZSX-listed Company Tables found that 43% of the 2017 Deloitte 
Top 200 companies opted out of providing basic information in their annual report (through s 211(3) of 
the Companies Act 1993) (McGuinness Institute, 2018, p. 22). This suggests that voluntary reporting of 
information will not be enough if New Zealand is to take urgent action on corporate reporting.

4.3 Implications for New Zealand
New Zealand has a complex and, in many areas, outdated reporting infrastructure. 

Our analysis tells us that New Zealand is lagging behind both Australia and the United Kingdom in this area 
– indicating weaknesses in New Zealand’s ability to build a reporting infrastructure that is robust, durable, 
comparable and flexible for all users of regular external reports. 

Incorporating the directors’ report into legislation not only places higher reporting responsibilities on 
directors, but also develops a mechanism for new disclosure requirements, strategies, business models and 
non-financial information to be incorporated into legislation. If New Zealand was to adopt similar legislative 
reporting requirements then this would enable much greater rigor in guidance, compliance, assurance and 
ultimately what information is being reported. 

By including directors’ report requirements in both Australia’s and the UK’s legislation, these countries are 
ensuring that the reporting infrastructure legislation provides a good platform to enable users to locate such 
content requirements easily.

Both the UK and Australia have placed additional disclosure requirements for listed companies into their 
corporate law (unlike New Zealand, where listed companies are subjected to greater disclosure requirements 
under 2020 NZX Listing Rules, but not in legislation).

Given that higher standards of non-financial reporting is becoming part of the ‘norm’ through its integration 
into corporate law in other jurisdictions, New Zealand is risking losing foreign investment to other overseas 
companies due to a lack of available information about a company’s business strategy, sustainability and 
other ESG information.

New Zealand can be a fast follower by looking to corporate legislation of Australia and the United Kingdom 
in order to enhance its reporting infrastructure. 

New Zealand reporting infrastructure contains a significant information gap. If New Zealand was to adopt 
similar ‘Directors’ Report/Strategic Report’ disclosure requirements along the lines of the UK; we would 
better meet the needs of investors and other interested parties. This is likely to deliver better decisions by 
investors, bankers, insurers and more trust among citizens. 

4.4 Recommendations
New Zealand can be a fast follower by looking to Australia and the United Kingdom’s corporate laws in 
order to enhance its reporting infrastructure. Based on the above, we make the following recommendations. 
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1.	 That a new external reporting instrument - a directors’ report - becomes part of our legislative framework 
and forms part of our annual report preparation and filing requirements.
a.	 That the strategic risks and opportunities faced by selected entities be reported on by directors 

annually and shared with shareholders and stakeholders. This is particularly the case given COVID-19 
and climate change.

b.	 That s 211(1)(a) of the Companies Act 1993 be amended to ensure that the board prepares strategic 
material information for shareholders and other users irrespective of whether there has been a change 
during the accounting period (the latter is the existing requirement). 

c.	 That the narrow focus on ‘shareholders’ be removed in the title after Part 12 of the Companies Act 
1993 and the focus on shareholders in s 211(1)(a) be removed. There are many other parties that rely 
on the directors’ report such as bankers, insurance providers, suppliers, employees and our current 
narrow focus is not up with current best practice.

d.	 That the ‘annual report’ be required to be filed with the Companies Office for all companies currently 
required to file their financial statements. 

e.	 That consideration be given to broadening existing filing requirements for selected private companies 
by requiring, in addition to the current entities listed in s 207D of the Companies Act 1993, that all 
‘Tier 1’ for-profit entities are required to file an annual report on the Companies Office as a way to 
improve trust, accountability and transparency.4

f.	 That the concessions available under s 211(3) to be removed for the companies outlined in s 207D of 
the Companies Act 1993 (large overseas companies and large of subsidiaries overseas companies) when 	
	preparing the annual report. 

g.	 Reports jointly-signed by the chair and the CEO should not be allowed under any circumstances. 
To allow this is in conflict with international best practice. This view is further supported by the 
TCFD, which separates (under governance) the board’s oversight disclosure from the management’s 
operational disclosure:

(a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities

(b) Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities.   
(TCFD, 2019, p. 14). 

2.	 That the XRB clarifies and specifies what makes up the ‘annual report’ in the New Zealand equivalent to 
ISA 720 – The auditor’s responsibilities relating to other information (along the lines of the UK equivalent, see 
Appendix 5).

3.	 That the XRB considers broadening the New Zealand equivalent to ISA 720 – The auditor’s responsibilities 
relating to other information to align with any changes to the legislation that places more clarity over the 
content of a directors’ report (along the lines of the UK equivalent, see Appendix 5). 

4.	 That consideration be given to further strengthen the checks and balances in the relationship between 
auditors and directors along the lines of the Australian and United Kingdom model. We suggest that the 
directors’ report include a ‘statement as to disclosures to auditors’, similar to that of the UK (see s 418 of 
the Companies Act 2006 in Appendix 4), and it should also include an ‘auditor’s declaration’ similar to 
that of Australia (see ss 298 and 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in Appendix 2). This would ensure 
that both the director and the auditor are obliged to access what is material information and are obliged to 
access their actions to ensure they do not contravene the legislation and assurance and auditing standards. 

5.	 That it is clear who the institution is that is responsible for ensuring that disclosure requirements made 
under s 211 of the Companies Act 1993 are met and to issue penalties when they are breached. This 
institution should act as steward for all annual reports and be responsible for actioning complaints made 
by shareholders and other parties. We believe this role might be within the remit of the FMA but more 
clarity is needed.

6.	 That the IoD publishes a guidance document on how to produce a directors’ report, such as A good practice 
guide for preparing a directors’ report.

4	 ‘Has public accountability or is a large for-profit public sector entity with total expenses > $30million.’  
See www.xrb.govt.nz/reporting-requirements/accounting-standards-framework.
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Regulation Section in Regulation

Companies Act 1993

Appendix 1: New Zealand Regulation

131 Duty of directors to act in good faith and in best interests of 
company

(1)	 Subject to this section, a director of a company, when exercising 
powers or performing duties, must act in good faith and in what 
the director believes to be the best interests of the company.

(2)	 A director of a company that is a wholly-owned subsidiary may, 
when exercising powers or performing duties as a director, if 
expressly permitted to do so by the constitution of the company, 
act in a manner which he or she believes is in the best interests of 
that company’s holding company even though it may not be in the 
best interests of the company.

(3)	 A director of a company that is a subsidiary (but not a wholly-
owned subsidiary) may, when exercising powers or performing 
duties as a director, if expressly permitted to do so by the 
constitution of the company and with the prior agreement of the 
shareholders (other than its holding company), act in a manner 
which he or she believes is in the best interests of that company’s 
holding company even though it may not be in the best interests of 
the company.

(4)	 A director of a company that is carrying out a joint venture 
between the shareholders may, when exercising powers or 
performing duties as a director in connection with the carrying 
out of the joint venture, if expressly permitted to do so by the 
constitution of the company, act in a manner which he or she 
believes is in the best interests of a shareholder or shareholders, 
even though it may not be in the best interests of the company.

132 Exercise of powers in relation to employees

(1)	 Nothing in section 131 limits the power of a director to make 
provision for the benefit of employees of the company in 
connection with the company ceasing to carry on the whole or part 
of its business.

133 Powers to be exercised for proper purpose

A director must exercise a power for a proper purpose.

134 Directors to comply with Act and constitution

A director of a company must not act, or agree to the company acting, in a 
manner that contravenes this Act or the constitution of the company.

135 Reckless trading

A director of a company must not—

(a)	 agree to the business of the company being carried on in a 
manner likely to create a substantial risk of serious loss to the 
company’s creditors; or

(b)	 cause or allow the business of the company to be carried on in 
a manner likely to create a substantial risk of serious loss to 
the company’s creditors.
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136 Duty in relation to obligations

A director of a company must not agree to the company incurring an 
obligation unless the director believes at that time on reasonable grounds 
that the company will be able to perform the obligation when it is required 
to do so.

137 Director’s duty of care

A director of a company, when exercising powers or performing duties as 
a director, must exercise the care, diligence, and skill that a reasonable 
director would exercise in the same circumstances taking into account, but 
without limitation,—

(a)	 the nature of the company; and

(b)	 the nature of the decision; and

(c)	 the position of the director and the nature of the 
responsibilities undertaken by him or her.

138 Use of information and advice

(1)	 Subject to subsection (2), a director of a company, when exercising 
powers or performing duties as a director, may rely on reports, 
statements, and financial data and other information prepared or 
supplied, and on professional or expert advice given, by any of the 
following persons:

(a)	 an employee of the company whom the director believes on 
reasonable grounds to be reliable and competent in relation to 
the matters concerned:

(b)	 a professional adviser or expert in relation to matters which 
the director believes on reasonable grounds to be within the 
person’s professional or expert competence:

(c)	 any other director or committee of directors upon which 
the director did not serve in relation to matters within the 
director’s or committee’s designated authority.

207D Application of registration provisions

(1)	 Section 207E applies to each of the following:

(a)	 every large overseas company:

(b)	 every large company in which shares that in aggregate carry 
the right to exercise or control the exercise of 25% or more of 
the voting power at a meeting of the company are held by—

(i)	 a subsidiary of a body corporate incorporated outside New 
Zealand; or

(ii)	 a body corporate incorporated outside New Zealand; or

(iii)	 a person not ordinarily resident in New Zealand.

(2)	 However, section 207E does not apply to a company or an 
overseas company (A) if the following requirements are satisfied:

(a)	 A is a subsidiary of a body corporate (B) that is—

Regulation Section in Regulation

Companies Act 1993 cont.

Appendix 1: New Zealand Regulation cont.
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(i)	 incorporated in New Zealand; or

(ii)	 registered or deemed to be registered under Part 18; 
and

(b)	 group financial statements in relation to a group 
comprising B, A, and all other subsidiaries of B that comply 
with generally accepted accounting practice are completed 
and signed within the time specified in section 202; and

(c)	 a copy of the group financial statements referred to in 
paragraph (b) and a copy of the auditor’s report on those 
statements are delivered for registration under this Act or 
for lodgement under another Act.

207E Financial statements must be registered

(1)	 A company or an overseas company to which this section 
applies must ensure that, within 5 months after the balance 
date of the company or overseas company, copies of its 
financial statements or group financial statements completed 
in relation to that balance date under section 201, 202, or 
204 (if any) together with a copy of the auditor’s report on 
those statements (if any) are delivered to the Registrar for 
registration.

(2)	 The company or overseas company must, when the financial 
statements or group financial statements are registered, pay to 
the Registrar the prescribed registration fee (if any).

(3)	 Any person may, on payment of the prescribed fee (if any), 
inspect the copies of the financial statements, group financial 
statements, and auditor’s report on those statements delivered 
to the Registrar under this section.

208 Obligation to prepare annual report

(1)	 This section applies to—

(a)	 every large company (within the meaning of section 198); 
and

(b)	 every company that is a public entity; and

(c)	 every company that is required to prepare financial 
statements or group financial statements under Part 7 of 
the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 or section 55 of the 
Financial Reporting Act 2013; and

(d)	 every company with 10 or more shareholders unless the 
company has opted out of compliance with this section in 
accordance with section 207I (in relation to the accounting 
period referred to in subsection (2)); and

(e)	 every company with fewer than 10 shareholders if the 
company has opted into compliance with this section in 
accordance with section 207K (in relation to the accounting 
period referred to in subsection (2)).

[...]

(4)	 However, the board of a large company (within the meaning of 

Regulation Section in Regulation

Companies Act 1993 cont.

Note: the meaning of large is 
defined in s 45 of the Financial 
Reporting Act 2013 excerpted  
later in this appendix. It places 
a greater obligation to prepare 
an annual report on overseas 
companies or subsidiaries of 
overseas companies.
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section 198) is not required to prepare an annual report on the 
affairs of the company during an accounting period if—

(a)	 the company is not required to prepare any financial 
statements or group financial statements for the accounting 
period under Part 11, Part 7 of the Financial Markets Conduct 
Act 2013, or any other enactment; and

(b)	 shareholders who together hold at least 95% of the voting 
shares (within the meaning of section 198) agree that the 
annual report need not be prepared for the accounting 
period.

209 Obligation to make annual report available to shareholders

(1)	 The board of a company must send to every shareholder of the 
company—

(a)	 a copy of the annual report; or

(b)	 a notice containing the statements specified in subsection (3).

(1AA)	 The copy of the annual report or the notice referred to in 
subsection (1)(b) must be sent—

(a)	 not less than 20 working days before the date fixed for 
holding the annual meeting of shareholders; or

(b)	 if, under section 120(5) or 122(4), it is not necessary to hold 
an annual meeting, within 20 working days after the date on 
which the annual report is prepared.

(1A)	 Subsection (1) does not apply if the annual report is not required 
to be prepared under section 208.

(2)	 Subsection (1) is subject to section 212.

(3)	 The notice referred to in subsection (1)(b) must contain—

(a)	 a statement to the effect that the shareholder has a right to 
receive from the company, free of charge, a copy of the annual 
report if the shareholder, within 15 working days of receiving 
the notice, makes a request to the company to receive a copy 
of the annual report; and

(b)	 a statement to the effect that the shareholder may obtain a 
copy of the annual report by electronic means; and

(c)	 a statement as to how the shareholder may obtain a copy of 
the annual report by electronic means ( for example, from a 
specified website address); and

(d)	 if the board of the company has prepared, in relation to the 
same accounting period as the annual report, a concise 
annual report, a statement—

(iaaa)	 that the board of the company has prepared, in relation 
to the same accounting period as the annual report, a 
concise annual report; and

(i)	 to the effect that the shareholder has a right to receive 

Appendix 1: New Zealand Regulation cont.

Regulation Section in Regulation

Companies Act 1993 cont.
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from the company, free of charge, a copy of the concise 
annual report if the shareholder, within 15 working days of 
receiving the notice, makes a request to the company to 
receive a copy of the concise annual report; and

(ii)	 to the effect that the shareholder may obtain a copy of the 
concise annual report by electronic means; and

(iii)	 as to how the shareholder may obtain a copy of the concise 
annual report by electronic means ( for example, from a 
specified website address).

(4)	 The notice referred to in subsection (1)(b) may be accompanied by 
any additional information or documentation that the board of the 
company thinks fit.

(5)	 For the purposes of this section and sections 209A and 209B, 
every concise annual report for a company must, in relation to an 
accounting period, include,—

(a)	 in relation to a company that has, on the balance date of the 
company, no subsidiaries,—

(i)	 financial statements for the accounting period that comply 
with generally accepted accounting practice and any 
auditor’s report on those financial statements; or

(ii)	 summary financial statements for the accounting period 
that comply with generally accepted accounting practice:

(b)	 in relation to a company that has, on the balance date of the 
company, 1 or more subsidiaries,—

(i)	 group financial statements for the accounting period that 
comply with generally accepted accounting practice and 
any auditor’s report on those group financial statements; 
or

(ii)	 summary financial statements for the accounting period, 
prepared in relation to the group comprising the company 
and its subsidiaries, that comply with generally accepted 
accounting practice.

(6)	 [Repealed]

(7)	 If the board of a company fails to comply with this section, every 
director of the company commits an offence and is liable on 
conviction to the penalty set out in section 374(2).

211 Contents of annual report 

(1)	 Every annual report for a company must be in writing and be dated 
and, subject to subsection (3), must—

(a)	 describe, so far as the board believes is material for the 
shareholders to have an appreciation of the state of the 
company’s affairs and will not be harmful to the business of the 
company or of any of its subsidiaries, any change during the 
accounting period in—

(i)	 the nature of the business of the company or any of its 
subsidiaries; or

Regulation Section in Regulation

Companies Act 1993 cont.
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(ii)	 the classes of business in which the company has an 
interest, whether as a shareholder of another company or 
otherwise;

(b)	 include any financial statements or group financial statements 
for the accounting period that are required to be prepared 
under Part 11, Part 7 of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 
2013, or any other enactment (if any); and

(c)	 if an auditor’s report is required under Part 11, Part 7 of the 
Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013, or any other enactment 
in relation to the financial statements or group financial 
statements included in the report, include that auditor’s 
report; and

(d)	 [Repealed]

(e)	 state particulars of entries in the interests register made 
during the accounting period; and

(f)	 state, in respect of each director or former director of the 
company, the total of the remuneration and the value of other 
benefits received by that director or former director from the 
company during the accounting period; and

(g)	 state the number of employees or former employees of the 
company, not being directors of the company, who, during 
the accounting period, received remuneration and any other 
benefits in their capacity as employees, the value of which was 
or exceeded $100,000 per annum, and must state the number 
of such employees or former employees in brackets of $10,000; 
and

(h)	 state the total amount of donations made by the company 
during the accounting period; and

(i)	 state the names of the persons holding office as directors of 
the company as at the end of the accounting period and the 
names of any persons who ceased to hold office as directors of 
the company during the accounting period; and

(j)	 state the amounts payable by the company to the person or 
firm holding office as auditor of the company as audit fees 
and, as a separate item, fees payable by the company for 
other services provided by that person or firm; and

(k)	 be signed on behalf of the board by 2 directors of the company 
or, if the company has only 1 director, by that director.

(2)	 A company that is required to include group financial statements 
in its annual report must include, in relation to its subsidiaries, the 
information specified in paragraphs (e) to ( j) of subsection (1).

(3)	 The annual report of a company need not comply with any of 
paragraphs (a), and (e) to ( j) of subsection (1), and subsection (2) 
if shareholders who together hold at least 95% of the voting shares 
(within the meaning of section 198) agree that the report need not  
do so.

Appendix 1: New Zealand Regulation cont.
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Regulation Section in Regulation

Financial Reporting  
Act 2013

45 Meaning of large

(1)	 For the purposes of an enactment that refers to this section, an 
entity (other than an overseas company or a subsidiary of an 
overseas company) is large in respect of an accounting period if 
at least 1 of the following paragraphs applies:

(a)	 as at the balance date of each of the 2 preceding accounting 
periods, the total assets of the entity and its subsidiaries (if 
any) exceed $60 million:

(b)	 in each of the 2 preceding accounting periods, the total 
revenue of the entity and its subsidiaries (if any) exceeds $30 
million.

(2)	 For the purposes of an enactment that refers to this section, 
an overseas company or a subsidiary of an overseas company 
is large in respect of an accounting period if at least 1 of the 
following paragraphs applies:

(a)	 as at the balance date of each of the 2 preceding accounting 
periods, the total assets of the entity and its subsidiaries (if 
any) exceed $20 million:

(b)	 in each of the 2 preceding accounting periods, the total 
revenue of the entity and its subsidiaries (if any) exceeds $10 
million.

(3)	 Despite subsections (1) and (2), an entity is not large in respect of 
an accounting period (period A) if—

(a)	 the entity was an inactive entity in respect of period A; and

(b)	 the entity, within 5 months after the end of period A, delivers 
to the Registrar a declaration, in the prescribed form, stating 
that it was an inactive entity in respect of period A.

(4)	 In subsection (3), an entity is an inactive entity in respect of an 
accounting period if,—

(a)	 during that period, the entity—

(i)	 has not derived, or been deemed to have derived, any 
income; and

(ii)	 has no expenses; and

(iii)	 has not disposed of, or been deemed to have disposed of, 
any assets; and

(d)	 at the end of that period, the entity has no subsidiaries or 
all of its subsidiaries are inactive entities in respect of that 
period.

(5)	 In determining whether an entity is an inactive entity, no account 
may be taken of any—

(a)	 statutory company filing fees or associated accounting or 
other costs; or

(b)	 bank charges or other minimal administration costs totalling 
not more than $50 in the accounting period; or

(c)	 interest earned on any bank account during the accounting 
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period, to the extent that the total interest does not exceed the 
total of any charges or costs incurred by the entity to which 
paragraph (b) applies.

Section 45(3): replaced, on 1 July 2015, by section 10 of the Financial 
Reporting Amendment Act 2014 (2014 No 64).

61C What is an e-reporting entity

(1)	 An FMC reporting entity is an e-reporting entity for an accounting 
period if the entity—

(a)	 is a company that is required by section 208 of the Companies 
Act 1993 to prepare an annual report for that period; and

(b)	 is an issuer of equity securities that are regulated products.

(2)	 Any other FMC reporting entity is an e-reporting entity for an 
accounting period if the entity—

(a)	 is a company that is required by section 208 of the Companies 
Act 1993 to prepare an annual report for that period; and

(b)	 has elected under section 209C(3) of the Companies Act 1993 
to comply with regulations 61D to 61F in relation to that annual 
report.

61D Annual report to be publicly available

(1)	 An e-reporting entity for an accounting period must make its 
annual report for that period available in accordance with this 
regulation.

(2)	 The report must be available, free of charge, on an Internet site 
maintained by, or on behalf of, the entity in a way that ensures 
that—

(a)	 the report is prominently displayed on the site; and

(b)	 members of the public can easily access the report at all 
reasonable times.

(3)	 The report must—

(a)	 be made available on the site as soon as practicable after it is 
prepared, but in any event—

(i)	 not less than 20 working days before the date fixed for the 
entity’s annual meeting of shareholders for the accounting 
period; or

(ii)	 if the entity is not required to hold an annual meeting of 
shareholders for that period, not more than 20 working 
days after the annual report for the period is prepared; and

(b)	 remain available for at least 5 years after it is first made 
available.

(4)	 This regulation applies for the purposes of section 97 of the Act.

Regulation Section in Regulation
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Regulation Section in Regulation

Climate Change Response 
(Zero Carbon) Amendment 
Act 2019

5ZW Minister or Commission may request certain organisations to 
provide information on climate change adaptation

(1)	 The Minister or the Commission may, in writing, request that 
a reporting organisation provide all or any of the following 
information:

(a)	 a description of the organisation’s governance in relation to 
the risks of, and opportunities arising from, climate change:

(b)	 a description of the actual and potential effects of the risks 
and opportunities on the organisation’s business, strategy, 
and financial planning:

(c)	 a description of the processes that the organisation uses to 
identify, assess, and manage the risks:

(d)	 a description of the metrics and targets used to assess and 
manage the risks and opportunities, including, if relevant, 
time frames and progress:

(e)	 any matters specified in regulations.
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180 Care and diligence—civil obligation only

Care and diligence—directors and other officers

(1)	 A director or other officer of a corporation must exercise their 
powers and discharge their duties with the degree of care and 
diligence that a reasonable person would exercise if they:

(a)	 were a director or officer of a corporation in the corporation’s 
circumstances; and

(b)	 occupied the office held by, and had the same responsibilities 
within the corporation as, the director or officer.

Business judgment rule

(2)	 A director or other officer of a corporation who makes a business 
judgment is taken to meet the requirements of subsection (1), and 
their equivalent duties at common law and in equity, in respect of 
the judgment if they:

(a)	 make the judgment in good faith for a proper purpose; and

(b)	 do not have a material personal interest in the subject matter 
of the judgment; and

(c)	 inform themselves about the subject matter of the judgment 
to the extent they reasonably believe to be appropriate; and

(d)	 rationally believe that the judgment is in the best interests of 
the corporation.

The director’s or officer’s belief that the judgment is in the best interests 
of the corporation is a rational one unless the belief is one that no 
reasonable person in their position would hold.

181 Good faith—civil obligations

Good faith—directors and other officers

(1)	  A director or other officer of a corporation must exercise their 
powers and discharge their duties:

(a)	  in good faith in the best interests of the corporation; and

(b)	 for a proper purpose.

182  Use of position—civil obligations

Use of position—directors, other officers and employees

(1)	 A director, secretary, other officer or employee of a corporation 
must not improperly use their position to:

(a)  gain an advantage for themselves or someone else; or

(b)  cause detriment to the corporation.

183  Use of information—civil obligations

Use of information—directors, other officers and employees

(1)	 A person who obtains information because they are, or have 

Appendix 2: Australian Regulation
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been, a director or other officer or employee of a corporation must 
not improperly use the information to:

(a)	 gain an advantage for themselves or someone else; or

(b)	 cause detriment to the corporation.

184 Good faith, use of position and use of information—criminal 
offences

Good faith—directors and other officers

(1)	  A director or other officer of a corporation commits an offence if 
they:

(a)	 are reckless; or

(b)	 are dishonest; and fail to exercise their powers and discharge 
their duties:

(c)	 in good faith in the best interests of the corporation; or

(d)	 for a proper purpose.

Use of position—directors, other officers and employees

(2)	 A director, other officer or employee of a corporation commits an 
offence if they use their position dishonestly:

(a)  with the intention of directly or indirectly gaining an advantage 
for themselves, or someone else, or causing detriment to the 
corporation; or

(b)  recklessly as to whether the use may result in themselves or 
someone else directly or indirectly gaining an advantage, or in 
causing detriment to the corporation.

(2A)	To avoid doubt, it is not a defence in a proceeding for an offence 
against subsection (2) that the director, other officer or employee 
of the corporation uses their position dishonestly:

(a)	 with the intention of directly or indirectly gaining an advantage 
for the corporation; or

(b)	 with the result that the corporation directly or indirectly gained 
an advantage.

Use of information—directors, other officers and employees

(3)	 A person who obtains information because they are, or have been, 
a director or other officer or employee of a corporation commits an 
offence if they use the information dishonestly:

(a)	 with the intention of directly or indirectly gaining an advantage 
for themselves, or someone else, or causing detriment to the 
corporation; or

(b)	 recklessly as to whether the use may result in themselves or 
someone else directly or indirectly gaining an advantage, or in 
causing detriment to the corporation.

(3A)	To avoid doubt, it is not a defence in a proceeding for an offence 
against subsection (3) that the person uses the information 
dishonestly:

Regulation Section in Regulation

Corporations Act 2001 
cont.
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situation of directors of wholly 
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(a)	 with the intention of directly or indirectly gaining an 
advantage for the corporation; or

(b)	 with the result that the corporation directly or indirectly 
gained an advantage.

Section 292 Who has to prepare annual financial reports and directors’ 
reports

(1)	 A financial report and a directors’ report must be prepared for 
each financial year by:

(a)	 all disclosing entities; and

(b)	 all public companies; and

(c)	 all large proprietary companies; and

(d)	 all registered schemes.

Note: This Chapter only applies to disclosing entities incorporated or 
formed in Australia (see subsection 285(2)).

Small proprietary companies

(2)	 A small proprietary company has to prepare the financial report 
and directors’ report only if:

(a)	 it is directed to do so under section 293 or 294; or

(b)	 it was controlled by a foreign company for all or part of the 
year and it is not consolidated for that period in financial 
statements for that year lodged with ASIC by:

(i)	 a registered foreign company; or

(ii)	 a company, registered scheme or disclosing entity; or

(c)	 it has one or more CSF shareholders at any time during the 
financial year.

The rest of this Part does not apply to any other small proprietary 
company.

Small companies limited by guarantee

(3)	 Despite subsection (1), a small company limited by guarantee has 
to prepare the financial report and directors’ report only if it is 
directed to do so under section 294A or 294B. The rest of this Part 
does not apply to any other small company limited by guarantee.

295  Contents of annual financial report

Basic contents

(1)	 The financial report for a financial year consists of:

(a)	  the financial statements for the year; and

(b)	 the notes to the financial statements; and

(c)	 the directors’ declaration about the statements and notes.

Regulation Section in Regulation

Corporations Act 2001 
cont.
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Financial statements

(2)	 The financial statements for the year are:

(a)	 unless paragraph (b) applies—the financial statements in 
relation to the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity 
required by the accounting standards; or

(b)	 if the accounting standards require the company, registered 
scheme or disclosing entity to prepare financial statements in 
relation to a consolidated entity—the financial statements in 
relation to the consolidated entity required by the accounting 
standards.

Notes to financial statements

(3)	 The notes to the financial statements are:

(a)	 disclosures required by the regulations; and

(b)	 notes required by the accounting standards; and

(c)	 any other information necessary to give a true and fair view 
(see section 297).

Directors’ declaration

(4)	 The directors’ declaration is a declaration by the directors:

(c)	 whether, in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the company, registered scheme or 
disclosing entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

(ca)	 if the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity has 
included in the notes to the financial statements, in compliance 
with the accounting standards, an explicit and unreserved 
statement of compliance with international financial reporting 
standards—that this statement has been included in the notes 
to the financial statements; and

(d)	 whether, in the directors’ opinion, the financial statement and 
notes are in accordance with this Act, including:

(i)	 section 296 (compliance with accounting standards); and

(ii)	 section 297 (true and fair view); and

(e)	 if the company, disclosing entity or registered scheme is 
listed—that the directors have been given the declarations 
required by section 295A.

Note: See paragraph 285(3)(c) for the reference to the debts of a registered 
scheme.

(5)	 The declaration must:

(a)	 be made in accordance with a resolution of the directors; and

(b)	 specify the date on which the declaration is made; and

(c)	 be signed by a director.

298 Annual directors’ report

(1)	 The company, registered scheme or disclosing entity must prepare 

Regulation Section in Regulation
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a directors’ report for each financial year.

(1AA)	 Except in the case of a company limited by guarantee or a 
company covered under subsection (1AC), the report must include:

(a)	 the general information required by sections 299 (all entities) 
and 299A (additional requirements for listed entities); and

(b)	 the specific information required by sections 300 and 300A; 
and

(c)	 a copy of the auditor’s declaration under section 307C in 
relation to the audit for the financial year.

(1AB)	 In the case of a company limited by guarantee, the report must 
include:

(a)	 the general information required by section 300B; and

(b)	 a copy of the auditor’s declaration under section 307C in 
relation to the audit or review for the financial year.

(1AC)	 This subsection covers a company if the company has not had its 
financial report for the relevant financial year audited because 
subsection 301(2) or (5) exempts it from the requirement to do so 
under subsection 301(1).

(1AD)	 In the case of a company covered under subsection (1AC), the 
report must include:

(a)  the general information required by section 299; and

(b)  the specific information required by section 300.

(1A)	 If the financial report for a financial year includes additional 
information under paragraph 295(3)(c) (information included to 
give true and fair view of financial position and performance), the 
directors’ report for the financial year must also:

(a)	 set out the directors’ reasons for forming the opinion that the 
inclusion of that additional information was necessary to give 
the true and fair view required by section 297; and

(b)	 specify where that additional information can be found in the 
financial report.

(2)	 The report must:

(a)	 be made in accordance with a resolution of the directors; and

(b)	 specify the date on which the report is made; and

(c)	 be signed by a director.

Small proprietary companies

(3)	 A small proprietary company does not have to comply with 

subsection (1) for a financial year if:

(a)	 it is preparing financial statements for that year in response to 
a shareholder direction under section 293; and

(b)	 the direction specified that a directors’ report need not be 
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prepared; and

(c)	 paragraph 292(2)(c) (about having CSF shareholders) does 
not apply to the company for the financial year.

Small companies limited by guarantee

(4)	 A small company limited by guarantee does not have to comply 
with subsection (1) for a financial year if:

(a)	 it is preparing the financial statements for that year in 
response to a member direction under section 294A; and

(b)	 the direction specified that a directors’ report need not be 
prepared.

299 Annual directors’ report—general information

General information about operations and activities

(1)	 The directors’ report for a financial year must:

(a)	 contain a review of operations during the year of the entity 
reported on and the results of those operations; and

(b)	 give details of any significant changes in the entity’s state of 
affairs during the year; and

(c)	 state the entity’s principal activities during the year and any 
significant changes in the nature of those activities during the 
year; and

(d)	 give details of any matter or circumstance that has arisen 
since the end of the year that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect:

(i)	 the entity’s operations in future financial years; or

(ii)	 the results of those operations in future financial years; or

(iii)	 the entity’s state of affairs in future financial years; and

(e)	 refer to likely developments in the entity’s operations in future 
financial years and the expected results of those operations; 
and

(f)	 if the entity’s operations are subject to any particular and 
significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory—give details of the 
entity’s performance in relation to environmental regulation.

(2)	 The entity reported on is:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity (if 
consolidated financial statements are not required); or 

(b)	 the consolidated entity (if consolidated financial statements 
are required).

Prejudicial information need not be disclosed

(3)	 The report may omit material that would otherwise be included 
under paragraph (1)(e) if it is likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity; or

Regulation Section in Regulation
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(b)	 if consolidated financial statements are required—the 
consolidated entity or any entity (including the company, 
registered scheme or disclosing entity) that is part of the 
consolidated entity.

If material is omitted, the report must say so.

299A Annual directors’ report—additional general requirements for 
listed entities

(1)	 The directors’ report for a financial year for a company, registered 
scheme or disclosing entity that is listed must also contain 
information that members of the listed entity would reasonably 
require to make an informed assessment of:

(a)	 the operations of the entity reported on; and

(b)	 the financial position of the entity reported on; and

(c)	 the business strategies, and prospects for future financial 
years, of the entity reported on.

(2)	 The entity reported on is:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity that is 
listed (if consolidated financial statements are not required); 
or

(b)	 the consolidated entity (if consolidated financial statements 
are required).

(3)	 The report may omit material that would otherwise be included 
under paragraph (1)(c) if it is likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity; or

(b)	 if consolidated financial statements are required—the 
consolidated entity or any entity (including the company, 
registered scheme or disclosing entity) that is part of the 
consolidated entity.

If material is omitted, the report must say so.

300 Annual directors’ report—specific information

(1)	 The directors’ report for a financial year must include details of:

(a)	 dividends or distributions paid to members during the year; 
and

(b)	 dividends or distributions recommended or declared for 
payment to members, but not paid, during the year; and

(c)	 the name of each person who has been a director of the 
company, registered scheme or disclosing entity at any time 
during or since the end of the year and the period for which 
they were a director; and

(ca)	 the name of each person who:

(i)	 is an officer of the company, registered scheme or 

Regulation Section in Regulation

Corporations Act 2001 
cont.

Appendix 2: Australian Regulation cont.



WORKING PAPER 2020/02 | MCGUINNESS INSTITUTE 33

disclosing entity at any time during the year; and

(ii)	 was a partner in an audit firm, or a director of an audit 
company, that is an auditor of the company, disclosing 
entity or registered scheme for the year; and

(iii)	 was such a partner or director at a time when the audit 
firm or the audit company undertook an audit of the 
company, disclosing entity or registered scheme; and

(d)	 options that are:

(i)	 granted over unissued shares or unissued interests during 
or since the end of the year; and

(ii)	 granted to any of the directors or any of the 5 most highly 
remunerated officers of the company (other than the 
directors); and

(iii)	 granted to them as part of their remuneration; (see 
subsections (3), (4) and (5)); and

(e)	 unissued shares or interests under option as at the day the 
report is made (see subsections (3) and (6)); and 

( f)	 shares or interests issued during or since the end of the year 
as a result of the exercise of an option over unissued shares or 
interests (see subsections (3) and (7)); and

(g)	 indemnities given and insurance premiums paid during or 
since the end of the year for a person who is or has been an 
officer or auditor (see subsections (8) and (9)).

Public companies, listed companies and registered schemes must include 
additional information under subsections (10), (11), (11AA), (11A), (11B), (12) 
and (13) of this section and section 300A.

(2)	 Details do not have to be included in the directors’ report under 
this section if they are included in the company’s financial report 
for the financial year.

(2A)	 If subsection (2) is relied on to not include in the directors’ report 
for a financial year details that would otherwise be required to be 
included in that report under paragraph (11B)(a) or (11C)(b), that 
report must specify, in the section headed “Non audit services”, 
where those details may be found in the company’s financial 
report for that financial year.

(3)	 Paragraphs (1)(d), (e) and ( f) cover:

(a)	 options over unissued shares and interests of the company, 
registered scheme or disclosing entity; and

(b)	 if consolidated financial statements are required—options over 
unissued shares and interests of any controlled entity that is a 
company, registered scheme or disclosing entity.

Options details

(5)	 The details of an option granted are:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity granting 
the option; and

(b)	 the name of the person to whom the option is granted; and
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(c)	 the number and class of shares or interests over which the 
option is granted.

(6)	 The details of unissued shares or interests under option are:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity that will 
issue shares or interests when the options are exercised; and

(b)	 the number and classes of those shares or interests; and

(c)	 the issue price, or the method of determining the issue price, of 
those shares or interests; and

(d)	 the expiry date of the options; and

(e)	 any rights that option holders have under the options to 
participate in any share issue or interest issue of the company, 
registered scheme or disclosing entity or of any other body 
corporate or registered scheme.

Shares or interests issued as a result of exercise of option

(7)	 The details of shares or interests issued as a result of the exercise 
of an option are:

(a)	 the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity issuing 
the shares or interests; and

(b)	 the number of shares or interests issued; and

(c)	 if the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity has 
different classes of shares or interests—the class to which 
each of those shares or interests belongs; and

(d)	 the amount unpaid on each of those shares or interests; and

(e)	 the amount paid, or agreed to be considered as paid, on each 
of those shares or interests.

Indemnities and insurance premiums for officers or auditors

(8)	 The report for a company must include details of:

(a)	 any indemnity that is given to a current or former officer or 
auditor against a liability and that is covered by subsection 
199A(2) or (3), or any relevant agreement under which an 
officer or auditor may be given an indemnity of that kind; and

(b)	 any premium that is paid, or agreed to be paid, for insurance 
against a current or former officer’s or auditor’s liability for 
legal costs.

Note: Sections 199A and 199B contain general prohibitions against 
giving certain indemnities and paying certain insurance premiums. This 
subsection requires transactions that are exceptions to these prohibitions 
to be reported.

(9)	 The details required under subsection (8) are:

(a)	 for an officer—their name or the class of officer to which they 
belong or belonged; and

(b)	 for an auditor—their name; and

Regulation Section in Regulation

Corporations Act 2001 
cont.

Appendix 2: Australian Regulation cont.



WORKING PAPER 2020/02 | MCGUINNESS INSTITUTE 35

(c)	 the nature of the liability; and

(d)	 for an indemnity given—the amount the company paid and 
any other action the company took to indemnify the officer or 
auditor; and

(e)	 for an agreement to indemnify—the amount that the relevant 
agreement requires the company to pay and any other action 
the relevant agreement requires the company to take to 
indemnify the officer or auditor; and

(f)	 for an insurance premium—the amount of the premium.

The report need not give details of the nature of the liability covered by, 
or the amount of the premium payable under, a contract of insurance to 
the extent that disclosure of those details is prohibited by the insurance 
contract.

Special rules for public companies

(10)	 The report for a public company that is not a wholly owned 
subsidiary of another company must also include details of:

(a)	 each director’s qualifications, experience and special 
responsibilities; and

(b)	 the number of meetings of the board of directors held during 
the year and each director’s attendance at those meetings; 
and

(c)	 the number of meetings of each board committee held during 
the year and each director’s attendance at those meetings; 
and

(d)	 the qualifications and experience of each person who is a 
company secretary of the company as at the end of the year.

Special rules for listed companies and schemes

(11)	 The report for a listed company must also include the following 
details for each director:

(a)	 their relevant interests in shares of the company or a related 
body corporate;

(b)	 their relevant interests in debentures of, or interests in a 
registered scheme made available by, the company or a 
related body corporate;

(c)	 their rights or options over shares in, debentures of or interests 
in a registered scheme made available by, the company or a 
related body corporate;

(d)	 contracts:

(i)	 to which the director is a party or under which the director 
is entitled to a benefit; and

(ii)	 that confer a right to call for or deliver shares in, or 
debentures of or interests in a registered scheme made 
available by the company or a related body corporate;

(e)	 all directorships of other listed companies held by the director 
at any time in the 3 years immediately before the end of the 
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financial year and the period for which each directorship has 
been held.

Note: Directors must also disclose interests of these kinds to a relevant 
market operator under s 205G as they are acquired.

(11AA)	 If an individual plays a significant role in the audit of a listed 
company or listed registered scheme for the financial year in 
reliance on an approval granted under section 324DAA, the report 
for the company or scheme must also include details of, and 
reasons for, the approval.

(11A)	 If a registered company auditor plays a significant role in the 
audit of a listed company for the financial year in reliance on a 
declaration made under section 342A, the report for the company 
must also include details of the declaration.

Listed companies—non audit services and auditor independence

(11B)	 The report for a listed company must also include the following in 
relation to each auditor:

(a)	 details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non 
audit services provided, during the year, by the auditor (or by 
another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf);

(b)	 a statement whether the directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non audit services, during the year, by the auditor 
(or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by this Act;

(c)	 a statement of the directors’ reasons for being satisfied that 
the provision of those non audit services, during the year, 
by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s 
behalf) did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of this Act.

These details and statements must be included in the directors’ report 
under the heading “Non audit services”. If consolidated financial 
statements are required, the details and statements must relate to 
amounts paid or payable to the auditor by, and non audit services 
provided to, any entity (including the company, registered scheme or 
disclosing entity) that is part of the consolidated entity.

(11C)	 For the purposes of paragraph (11B)(a), the details of amounts paid 
or payable to an auditor for non audit services provided, during the 
year, by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s 
behalf) are:

(a)	 the name of the auditor; and

(b)	 the dollar amount that:

(i)	 the listed company; or

(ii)	 if consolidated financial statements are required—any 
entity that is part of the consolidated entity; paid, or is 
liable to pay, for each of those non audit services.
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(11D)	 The statements under paragraphs (11B)(b) and (c) must be made 
in accordance with:

(a)	 advice provided by the listed company’s audit committee if the 
company has an audit committee; or

(b)	 a resolution of the directors of the listed company if paragraph 
(a) does not apply.

(11E)	 For the purposes of subsection (11D), a statement is taken to be 
made in accordance with advice provided by the company’s audit 
committee only if:

(a)	 the statement is consistent with that advice and does not 
contain any material omission of material included in that 
advice; and

(b)	 the advice is endorsed by a resolution passed by the members 
of the audit committee; and

(c)	 the advice is written advice signed by a member of the audit 
committee on behalf of the audit committee and given to the 
directors.

Special rules for listed registered schemes

(12)	 The report for a registered scheme whose interests are quoted on a 
prescribed financial market must also include the following details 
for each director of the company that is the responsible entity for 
the scheme:

(a)  their relevant interests in interests in the scheme;

(b)  their rights or options over interests in the scheme;

(c)  contracts to which the director is a party or under which the 
director is entitled to a benefit and that confer a right to call for 
or deliver interests in the scheme.

Special rules for registered schemes

(13)	 The report for a registered scheme must also include details of:

(a)	 the fees paid to the responsible entity and its associates out of 
scheme property during the financial year; and

(b)	 the number of interests in the scheme held by the responsible 
entity or its associates as at the end of the financial year; and

(c)	 interests in the scheme issued during the financial year; and

(d)	 withdrawals from the scheme during the financial year; and

(e)	 the value of the scheme’s assets as at the end of the financial 
year, and the basis for the valuation; and

(f)	 the number of interests in the scheme as at the end of the 
financial year.

Proceedings on behalf of a company

(14)	 The report for a company must also include the following details of 
any application for leave under section 237 made in respect of the 
company:

(a)	 the applicant’s name; and
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(b)	 a statement whether leave was granted.

(15)	 The report for a company must also include the following details 
of any proceedings that a person has brought or intervened in on 
behalf of the company with leave under section 237:

(a)	 the person’s name;

(b)	 the names of the parties to the proceedings;

(c)	 sufficient information to enable members to understand the 
nature and status of the proceedings (including the cause of 
action and any orders made by the court).

300A Annual directors’ report—specific information to be provided by 
listed companies

(1)	 The directors’ report for a financial year for a company must also 
include (in a separate and clearly identified section of the report):

(a)	 discussion of board policy for determining, or in relation to, the 
nature and amount (or value, as appropriate) of remuneration 
of the key management personnel for:

(i)	 the company, if consolidated financial statements are not 
required; or

(ii)	 the consolidated entity, if consolidated financial 
statements are required; and

(b)	 discussion of the relationship between such policy and the 
company’s performance; and

(ba)	 if an element of the remuneration of a member of the key 
management personnel for the company, or if consolidated 
financial statements are required, for the consolidated entity is 
dependent on the satisfaction of a performance condition:

(i)	 a detailed summary of the performance condition; and

(ii)	 an explanation of why the performance condition was 
chosen; and

(iii)	 a summary of the methods used in assessing whether the 
performance condition is satisfied and an explanation of 
why those methods were chosen; and

(iv)	 if the performance condition involves a comparison with 
factors external to the company:

(A)	 a summary of the factors to be used in making the comparison; 
and

(B)	 if any of the factors relates to the performance of another 
company, of 2 or more other companies or of an index in which the 
securities of a company or companies are included—the identity of 
that company, of each of those companies or of the index; and

(c)	 the prescribed details in relation to the remuneration of:

(i)	 if consolidated financial statements are required—each 
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member of the key management personnel for the 
consolidated entity; or

(ii)	 if consolidated financial statements are not required—
each member of the key management personnel for the 
company; and

(d)	 if an element of the remuneration of a person referred 
to in paragraph (c) consists of securities of a body and 
that element is not dependent on the satisfaction of a 
performance condition—an explanation of why that element 
of the remuneration is not dependent on the satisfaction of a 
performance condition; and

(e)	 for each person referred to in paragraph (c):

(i)	 an explanation of the relative proportions of those 
elements of the person’s remuneration that are related 
to performance and those elements of the person’s 
remuneration that are not; and

(ii)	 the value (worked out as at the time they are granted and 
in accordance with any applicable accounting standards) 
of options that are granted to the person during the year 
as part of their remuneration; and

(iii)	 the value (worked out as at the time they are exercised) 
of options that were granted to the person as part of their 
remuneration and that are exercised by the person during 
the year; and

(iv)	 if options granted to the person as part of their 
remuneration lapse during the financial year—the number 
of those options, and the financial year in which those 
options were granted; and

(v)	 if the person is employed by the company under a 
contract—the duration of the contract, the periods 
of notice required to terminate the contract and the 
termination payments provided for under the contract; and

(f)	 such other matters related to the policy or policies referred to 
in paragraph (a) as are prescribed by the regulations; and

(g)	 if:

(i)	 at the company’s most recent AGM, comments were made 
on the remuneration report that was considered at that 
AGM; and

(ii)	 when a resolution that the remuneration report for the 
last financial year be adopted was put to the vote at the 
company’s most recent AGM, at least 25% of the votes cast 
were against adoption of that report; an explanation of the 
board’s proposed action in response or, if the board does 
not propose any action, the board’s reasons for inaction; 
and

(h)	 if a remuneration consultant made a remuneration 
recommendation in relation to any of the key management 
personnel for the company or, if consolidated financial 
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statements are required, for the consolidated entity, for the 
financial year:

(i)	 the name of the consultant; and

(ii)	 a statement that the consultant made such a 
recommendation; and

(iii)	 if the consultant provided any other kind of advice to the 
company or entity for the financial year—a statement that 
the consultant provided that other kind or those other 
kinds of advice; and

(iv)	 the amount and nature of the consideration payable for 
the remuneration recommendation; and

(v)	 the amount and nature of the consideration payable for 
any other kind of advice referred to in subparagraph (iii); 
and

(vi)	 information about the arrangements the company 
made to ensure that the making of the remuneration 
recommendation would be free from undue influence by 
the member or members of the key management personnel 
to whom the recommendation relates; and

(vii)	a statement about whether the board is satisfied that 
the remuneration recommendation was made free from 
undue influence by the member or members of the key 
management personnel to whom the recommendation 
relates; and

(viii)	if the board is satisfied that the remuneration 
recommendation was made free from undue influence by 
the member or members of the key management personnel 
to whom the recommendation relates—the board’s reasons 
for being satisfied of this.

(1AA)	 Without limiting paragraph (1)(b), the discussion under that 
paragraph of the company’s performance must specifically deal 
with:

(a)	 the company’s earnings; and

(b)	 the consequences of the company’s performance on 
shareholder wealth; in the financial year to which the report 
relates and in the previous 4 financial years.

(1AB)	 In determining, for the purposes of subsection (1AA), the 
consequences of the company’s performance on shareholder 
wealth in a financial year, have regard to:

(a)	 dividends paid by the company to its shareholders during that 
year; and

(b)	 changes in the price at which shares in the company are 
traded between the beginning and the end of that year; and

(c)	 any return of capital by the company to its shareholders 
during that year that involves:
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(i)	 the cancellation of shares in the company; and

(ii)	 a payment to the holders of those shares that exceeds the 
price at which shares in that class are being traded at the 
time when the shares are cancelled; and

(d)	 any other relevant matter.

(1A)	 The material referred to in subsection (1) must be included in the 
directors’ report under the heading “Remuneration report”.

(1C)	 Without limiting paragraph (1)(c), the regulations may:

(a)	 provide that the value of an element of remuneration is to be 
determined, for the purposes of this section, in a particular 
way or by reference to a particular standard; and

(b)	 provide that details to be given of an element of remuneration 
must relate to the remuneration provided in:

(i)	 the financial year to which the directors’ report relates; 
and

(ii)	 the earlier financial years specified in the regulations.

(2)	 This section applies to any listed disclosing entity that is a 
company.

(3)	 This section applies despite anything in the company’s 
constitution.

(4)	 For the purposes of this section, if:

(a)	 consolidated financial statements are required; and

(b)	 a person is a group executive who is a group executive 
of 2 or more entities within the consolidated entity; the 
person’s remuneration is taken to include all of the person’s 
remuneration from those entities (regardless of the capacity in 
which the person received the remuneration).

300B Annual directors’ report—companies limited by guarantee

(1)	 The directors’ report for a financial year for a company limited by 
guarantee must:

(a)	 contain a description of the short and long term objectives of 
the entity reported on; and

(b)	 set out the entity’s strategy for achieving those objectives; and

(c)	 state the entity’s principal activities during the year; and

(d)	 state how those activities assisted in achieving the entity’s 
objectives; and

(e)	 state how the entity measures its performance, including any 
key performance indicators used by the entity.

(2)	 The entity reported on is:

(a)	 the company (if consolidated financial statements are not 
required); or

(b)	 the consolidated entity (if consolidated financial statements 
are required).
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(3)	 The directors’ report for a financial year for a company limited by 
guarantee must also include details of:

(a)	 the name of each person who has been a director of the 
company at any time during or since the end of the year and 
the period for which the person was a director; and

(b)	 each director’s qualifications, experience and special 
responsibilities; and

(c)	 the number of meetings of the board of directors held during 
the year and each director’s attendance at those meetings; 
and

(d)	 for each class of membership in the company—the amount 
which a member of that class is liable to contribute if the 
company is wound up; and

(e)	 the total amount that members of the company are liable to 
contribute if the company is wound up.

307C Auditor’s independence declaration

Contravention by individual auditor

(1)	 If an individual auditor conducts:

(a)	 an audit or review of the financial report for a financial year; or

(b)	 an audit or review of the financial report for a half-year;  
the individual auditor must give the directors of the company, 
registered scheme or disclosing entity:

(c)	 a written declaration that, to the best of the individual 
auditor’s knowledge and belief, there have been:

(i)	 no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements of this Act in relation to the audit or review; 
and

(ii)	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional 
conduct in relation to the audit or review; or

(d)	 a written declaration that, to the best of the individual 
auditor’s knowledge and belief, the only contraventions of:

(i)	 the auditor independence requirements of this Act in 
relation to the audit or review; or

(ii)	 any applicable code of professional conduct in relation 
to the audit or review; are those contraventions details of 
which are set out in the declaration.

(2)	 An offence based on subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability. 
Note: For strict liability see section 6.1 of the Criminal Code.

Contravention by lead auditor

(3)	 If an audit firm or audit company conducts:

(a)	 an audit or review of the financial report for a financial year; or

(b)	 an audit or review of the financial report for a half-year; 
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the lead auditor for the audit must give the directors of the 
company, registered scheme or disclosing entity:

(c)	 a written declaration that, to the best of the lead auditor’s 
knowledge and belief, there have been:

(i)	 no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements of this Act in relation to the audit or review; 
and

(ii)	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional 
conduct in relation to the audit or review; or

(d)	 a written declaration that, to the best of the lead auditor’s 
knowledge and belief, the only contraventions of:

(i)	 the auditor independence requirements of this Act in 
relation to the audit or review; or

(ii)	 any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to 
the audit or review; 
are those contraventions details of which are set out in the 
declaration.

(4)	 An offence based on subsection (3) is an offence of strict liability. 
Note: For strict liability see section 6.1 of the Criminal Code .

(5)	 The declaration under subsection (1) or (3):

(a)	 either:

(i)	 must be given when the audit report is given to the 
directors of the company, registered scheme or disclosing 
entity; or

(ii)	 must satisfy the conditions in subsection (5A); and

(b)	 must be signed by the person making the declaration.

(5A)	A declaration under subsection (1) or (3) in relation to a financial 
report for a financial year or half-year satisfies the conditions in 
this subsection if:

(a)	 the declaration is given to the directors of the company, 
registered scheme or disclosing entity before the directors 
pass a resolution under subsection 298(2) or 306(3) (as 
the case requires) in relation to the directors’ report for the 
financial year or half-year; and

(b)	 a director signs the directors’ report within 7 days after the 
declaration is given to the directors; and

(c)	 the auditor’s report on the financial report is made within 7 
days after the directors’ report is signed; and

(d)	 the auditor’s report includes either of the following statements:

(i)	 a statement to the effect that the declaration would be in 
the same terms if it had been given to the directors at the 
time the auditor’s report was made;

(ii)	 a statement to the effect that circumstances have 
changed since the declaration was given to the directors, 
and setting out how the declaration would differ if it had 
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been given to the directors at the time the auditor’s report 
was made.

(5B)	An individual auditor or a lead auditor is not required to 
give a declaration under subsection (1) or (3) in respect of a 
contravention if:

(a)	 the contravention was a contravention by a person of 
subsection 324CE(2), 324CF(2) or 324CG(2); and

(b)	 the person does not commit an offence because of subsection 
324CE(4), 324CF(4) or 324CG(4).

Self-incrimination

(6)	 An individual is not excused from giving a declaration under 
subsection (1) or (3) on the ground that giving the declaration 
might tend to incriminate the individual or expose the individual to 
a penalty.

Use/derivative use indemnity

(7)	 However, neither:

(a)	 the information included in the declaration; nor

(b)	 any information, document or thing obtained as a direct 
or indirect consequence of including the information in the 
declaration; 
is admissible in evidence against the individual in any criminal 
proceedings, or in any proceedings that would expose the 
person to a penalty, other than:

(c)	 proceedings for an offence against section 1308 or 1309 in 
relation to the declaration; or

(d)	 proceedings for an offence against section 137.1 or 137.2 of the 
Criminal Code ( false or misleading information or documents) 
in relation to the declaration.

317 Consideration of reports at AGM

(1)	 The directors of a public company that is required to hold an AGM 
must lay before the AGM:

(a)	 the financial report; and

(b)	 the directors’ report; and

(c)	 the auditor’s report; 

for the last financial year that ended before the AGM.

319 Lodgement of annual reports with ASIC

(1)	 A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity that has to 
prepare or obtain a report for a financial year under Division 1 must 
lodge the report with ASIC. This obligation extends to a concise 
report provided to members under section 314.

324DA Limited term for eligibility to play significant role in audit of a 
listed company or listed registered scheme
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(1)	 If an individual plays a significant role in the audit of a listed 
company or listed registered scheme for 5 successive financial 
years (the extended audit involvement period), the individual is 
not eligible to play a significant role in the audit of the company 
or the scheme for a later financial year (the subsequent financial 
year) unless:

(a)	 the individual has not played a significant role in the audit of 
the company or the scheme for at least 2 successive financial 
years (the intervening financial years); and

(b)	 the intervening financial years:

(i)	 commence after the end of the extended audit involvement 
period; and

(ii)	 end before the beginning of the subsequent financial year.

Note: Play a significant role in an audit is defined in section 9.

(2)	 An individual is not eligible to play a significant role in the audit of 
a listed company or listed registered scheme for a financial year if, 
were the individual to do so, the individual would play a significant 
role in the audit of the company or scheme for more than 5 out of 7 
successive financial years.

(3)	 For the purposes of subsection (2), disregard an individual’s 
playing of a significant role in the audit of a company or scheme 
for a financial year if:

(a)	 either:

(i)	 the directors of the company or scheme grant an approval 
under section 324DAA in relation to the individual; or

(ii)	 ASIC makes a declaration under paragraph 342A(1)(a) in 
relation to the individual; and

(b)	 because of the approval or the declaration, subsection (1) 
of this section does not operate to make the individual not 
eligible to play a significant role in the audit of the company or 
scheme for that financial year.
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Duty of care of directors and officers

122 (1)	 Every director and officer of a corporation in exercising their 
powers and discharging their duties shall 

(a)	 act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests 
of the corporation; and

(b)	 exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent 
person would exercise in comparable circumstances.

Best interests of the corporation

(1.1)	 When acting with a view to the best interests of the corporation 
under paragraph (1)(a), the directors and officers of the 
corporation may consider, but are not limited to, the following 
factors:

(a)	 the interests of

(i)	 shareholders,

(ii)	 employees,

(iii)	 retirees and pensioners,

(iv)	 creditors,

(v)	 consumers, and

(vi)	 governments;

(b)	 the environment; and

(c)	 the long-term interests of the corporation.

Duty to comply

(2)	 Every director and officer of a corporation shall comply with 
this Act, the regulations, articles, by-laws and any unanimous 
shareholder agreement.

Annual financial statements

155 (1)	 The directors of a corporation shall place before the shareholders 
at every annual meeting

(a)	 prescribed comparative financial statements that conform to 
any prescribed requirements and relate separately to

(i)	 the period that began on the date the corporation came 
into existence and ended not more than six months before 
the annual meeting or, if the corporation has completed 
a financial year, the period that began immediately after 
the end of the last completed financial year and ended not 
more than six months before the annual meeting, and

(ii)	 the immediately preceding financial year;

(b)	 the report of the auditor, if any; an

(c)	 any further information respecting the financial position of 
the corporation and the results of its operations required 
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by the articles, the by-laws or any unanimous shareholder 
agreement.

Approval of financial statements

158 (1)	 The directors of a corporation shall approve the financial 
statements referred to in section 155 and the approval shall be 
evidenced by the manual signature of one or more directors or a 
facsimile of the signatures reproduced in the statements.

Diversity in corporations

172.1 (1)	The directors of a prescribed corporation shall place before the 
shareholders, at every annual meeting, the prescribed information 
respecting diversity among the directors and among the members 
of senior management as defined by regulation.

Copies to shareholders

159 (1)	 A corporation shall, not less than twenty-one days before each 
annual meeting of shareholders or before the signing of a 
resolution under paragraph 142(1)(b) in lieu of the annual meeting, 
send a copy of the documents referred to in section 155 to each 
shareholder, except to a shareholder who has informed the 
corporation in writing that he or she does not want a copy of  
those documents.

Contents of Financial Statements

72 (1)	 The financial statements referred to in section 155 of the Act shall 
include at least

(a)	 a statement of financial position or a balance sheet;

(b)	 a statement of comprehensive income or an income statement;

(c)	 a statement of changes in equity or a statement of retained 
earnings; and

(d)	 a statement of cash flows or a statement of changes in 
financial position.

(2)	 Financial statements need not be designated by the names set out 
in paragraphs (1)(a) to (d).

Disclosure Relating to Diversity

72.2 (1)	 The following definitions apply in this Part.

designated groups has the same meaning as in section 3 of the 
Employment Equity Act.  (groupes désignés)

major subsidiary means, in respect of a distributing corporation, a 
subsidiary that

(a)	 has assets, as included in the distributing corporation’s most 
recent annual audited or interim balance sheet or most recent 
statement of financial position, that are 30 percent or more 
of the consolidated assets of the distributing corporation 
reported on that balance sheet or statement of financial 
position, as the case may be; or

(b)	 has revenue, as included in the distributing corporation’s 
most recent annual audited or interim income statement or 
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most recent statement of comprehensive income, that is 30 
percent or more of the consolidated revenue of the distributing 
company reported on that statement.  (filiale importante)

(2)	 For the purposes of subsection 172.1(1) of the Act, a distributing 
corporation is a prescribed corporation.

(3)	 For the purpose of subsection 172.1(1) of the Act, members of senior 
management means, in respect of a distributing corporation, the 
following individuals:

(a)	 the chair and vice-chair of the board of directors;

(b)	 the president of the corporation;

(c)	 the chief executive officer and chief financial officer;

(d)	 the vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, 
division or function, including sales, finance or production; and

(e)	 an individual who performs a policy-making function in 
respect of the corporation.

(4)	 For the purpose of subsection 172.1(1) of the Act, the following 
information is prescribed:

(a)	 indication of whether or not the distributing corporation has 
adopted term limits for the directors on its board or other 
mechanisms of board renewal and, as the case may be, a 
description of those term limits or mechanisms or the reasons 
why it has not adopted them;

(b)	 indication of whether or not the distributing corporation has 
adopted a written policy relating to the identification and 
nomination of members of designated groups for directors 
and, if it has not adopted a written policy, the reasons why it 
has not adopted the policy;

(c)	 if the distributing corporation has adopted the written policy 
referred to in paragraph (b),

(i)	 a short summary of the policy’s objectives and key 
provisions,

(ii)	 a description of the measures taken to ensure that the 
policy is effectively implemented,

(iii)	 a description of the annual and cumulative progress by 
the distributing corporation in achieving the objectives of 
the policy, and

(iv)	 whether or not the board of directors or its nominating 
committee measures the effectiveness of the policy and, if 
so, a description of how it is measured;

(d)	 whether or not the board of directors or its nominating 
committee considers the level of the representation of 
designated groups on the board in identifying and nominating 
candidates for election or re-election to the board and, as the 
case may be, how that level is considered or the reasons why it 
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is not considered;

(e)	 whether or not the distributing corporation considers the 
level of representation of designated groups when appointing 
members of senior management and, as the case may be, how 
that level is considered or the reasons why it is not considered;

( f)	 whether or not the distributing corporation has, for each group 
referred to in the definition designated groups, adopted a 
target number or percentage, or a range of target numbers or 
percentages, for members of the group to hold positions on the 
board of directors by a specific date and

(i)	 for each group for which a target has been adopted, the 
target and the annual and cumulative progress of the 
corporation in achieving that target, and

(ii)	 for each group for which a target has not been adopted, 
the reasons why the corporation has not adopted that 
target;

(g)	 whether or not the distributing corporation has, for each group 
referred to in the definition designated groups, adopted a 
target number or percentage, or a range of target numbers 
or percentages, for members of the group to be members of 
senior management by a specific date and,

(i)	 for each group for which a target has been adopted, the 
target and the annual and cumulative progress of the 
corporation in achieving that target, and

(ii)	 for each group for which a target has not been adopted, 
the reasons why the corporation has not adopted that 
target;

(h)	 for each group referred to in the definition designated groups, 
the number and proportion, expressed as a percentage, of 
members of each group who hold positions on the board of 
directors; and

(i)	 for each group referred to in the definition designated groups, 
the number and proportion, expressed as a percentage, 
of members of each group who are members of senior 
management of the distributing corporation, including all of its 
major subsidiaries.

Company to file annual report

51	 Subject to sections 330 (k) and 411 (2), a company must annually, 
within 2 months after each anniversary of the date on which the 
company was recognized, file with the registrar an annual report in 
the form established by the registrar containing information that is 
current to the most recent anniversary.
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Appendix 4: United Kingdom Regulation
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Companies Act 2006 171 Duty to act within powers

A director of a company must—

(a)	 act in accordance with the company’s constitution, and

(b)	 only exercise powers for the purposes for which they are 
conferred.

172 Duty to promote the success of the company

(1)	 A director of a company must act in the way he considers, in good 
faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company 
for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have 
regard (amongst other matters) to—

(a)	 the likely consequences of any decision in the long term,

(b)	 the interests of the company’s employees,

(c)	 the need to foster the company’s business relationships with 
suppliers, customers and others,

(d)	 the impact of the company’s operations on the community and 
the environment,

(e)	 the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for 
high standards of business conduct, and

(f)	 the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

(2)	 Where or to the extent that the purposes of the company consist 
of or include purposes other than the benefit of its members, 
subsection (1) has effect as if the reference to promoting the 
success of the company for the benefit of its members were to 
achieving those purposes.

(3)	 The duty imposed by this section has effect subject to any 
enactment or rule of law requiring directors, in certain 
circumstances, to consider or act in the interests of creditors of the 
company.

173 Duty to exercise independent judgment

(1)	 A director of a company must exercise independent judgment.

(2)	 This duty is not infringed by his acting—

(a)	 in accordance with an agreement duly entered into by the 
company that restricts the future exercise of discretion by its 
directors, or

(b)	 in a way authorised by the company’s constitution.

174 Duty to exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence

(1)	 A director of a company must exercise reasonable care, skill and 
diligence.

(2)	 This means the care, skill and diligence that would be exercised by 
a reasonably diligent person with—
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reasonably be expected of a person carrying out the functions 
carried out by the director in relation to the company, and

(b)	 the general knowledge, skill and experience that the  
director has.

385 Quoted and unquoted companies

(1)	 For the purposes of this Part a company is a quoted company in 
relation to a financial year if it is a quoted company immediately 
before the end of the accounting reference period by reference to 
which that financial year was determined.

(2)	 A “quoted company” means a company whose equity share 
capital—

(a)	 has been included in the official list in accordance with the 
provisions of Part 6 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (c. 8), or

(b)	 is officially listed in an EEA State, or

(c)	 is admitted to dealing on either the New York Stock Exchange 
or the exchange known as Nasdaq.

(3)	 An “unquoted company” means a company that is not a quoted 
company.

393 Accounts to give true and fair view

(1)	 The directors of a company must not approve accounts for the 
purposes of this Chapter unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss—

(a)	 in the case of the company’s individual accounts, of the 
company;

(b)	 in the case of the company’s group accounts, of the 
undertakings included in the consolidation as a whole, so far 
as concerns members of the company.

(2)	 The auditor of a company in carrying out his functions under 
this Act in relation to the company’s annual accounts must have 
regard to the directors’ duty under subsection (1).

411 Information about employee numbers and costs

(1)	 The notes to a company’s annual accounts must disclose the 
average number of persons employed by the company in the 
financial year.

(1A)	 In the case of a company not subject to the small companies 
regime, the notes to the company’s accounts must also disclose 
the average number of persons within each category of persons so 
employed.

(2)	 The categories by reference to which the number required to be 
disclosed by subsection (1A) is to be determined must be such as 
the directors may select having regard to the manner in which the 
company’s activities are organised.
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(3)	 The average number required by subsection (1) or (1A) is 
determined by dividing the relevant annual number by the number 
of months in the financial year.

(4)	 The relevant annual number is determined by ascertaining for 
each month in the financial year—

(a)	 for the purposes of subsection (1), the number of persons 
employed under contracts of service by the company in that 
month (whether throughout the month or not);

(b)	 for the purposes of subsection (1A), the number of persons in 
the category in question of persons so employed;

and adding together all the monthly numbers. 

(5)	 Except in the case of a company subject to the small companies 
regime, the notes to the company’s annual accounts or the profit 
and loss account must disclose, with reference to all persons 
employed by the company during the financial year, the total staff 
costs of the company relating to the financial year broken down 
between—

(a)	 wages and salaries paid or payable in respect of that year to 
those persons,

(b)	 social security costs incurred by the company on their behalf, 
and

(c)	 other pension costs so incurred.

412 Information about directors’ benefits: remuneration

(1)	 The Secretary of State may make provision by regulations 
requiring information to be given in notes to a company’s annual 
accounts about directors’ remuneration.

(2)	 The matters about which information may be required include—

(a)	 gains made by directors on the exercise of share options;

(b)	 benefits received or receivable by directors under long-term 
incentive schemes;

(c)	 payments for loss of office (as defined in section 215);

(d)	 benefits receivable, and contributions for the purpose of 
providing benefits, in respect of past services of a person as 
director or in any other capacity while director;

(e)	 consideration paid to or receivable by third parties for making 
available the services of a person as director or in any other 
capacity while director.

(6)	 Without prejudice to the generality of subsection (1), regulations 
under this section may make any such provision as was made 
immediately before the commencement of this Part by Part 1 of 
Schedule 6 to the Companies Act 1985 (c. 6).
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414A Duty to prepare strategic report

(1)	 The directors of a company must prepare a strategic report for 
each financial year of the company.

(2)	 Subsection (1) does not apply if the company is entitled to the 
small companies exemption.

(3)	 For a financial year in which—

(a)	 the company is a parent company, and

(b)	 the directors of the company prepare group accounts, the 
strategic report must be a consolidated report (a “group 
strategic report”) relating to the undertakings included in the 
consolidation.

(4)	 A group strategic report may, where appropriate, give greater 
emphasis to the matters that are significant to the undertakings 
included in the consolidation, taken as a whole.

414B Strategic report: small companies exemption

A company is entitled to [the] small companies exemption in relation to the 
strategic report for a financial year if—

(a)	 it is entitled to prepare accounts for the year in accordance 
with the small companies regime, or

(b)	 it would be so entitled but for being or having been a member 
of an ineligible group.]

414C Contents of strategic report

(1)	 The purpose of the strategic report is to inform members of the 
company and help them assess how the directors have performed 
their duty under section 172 (duty to promote the success of the 
company).

(2)	 The strategic report must contain—

(a)	 a fair review of the company’s business, and

(b)	 a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the 
company.

[Section 414CZA (section 172(1) statement) and sections 414CA 
and 414CB (non-financial information statement) make further 
provision about the contents of a strategic report.]

(3)	 The review required is a balanced and comprehensive analysis of—

(a)	 the development and performance of the company’s business 
during the financial year, and

(b)	 the position of the company’s business at the end of that year, 
consistent with the size and complexity of the business.

(4)	 The review must, to the extent necessary for an understanding 
of the development, performance or position of the company’s 
business, include—

(a)	 analysis using financial key performance indicators, and

(b)	 where appropriate, analysis using other key performance 
indicators, including information relating to environmental 
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matters and employee matters.

(5)	 In subsection (4), “key performance indicators” means factors by 
reference to which the development, performance or position of the 
company’s business can be measured effectively.

(6)	 Where a company qualifies as medium-sized in relation to a 
financial year (see sections 465 to 467), the review for the year 
need not comply with the requirements of subsection (4) so far as 
they relate to non-financial information.

(7)	 In the case of a quoted company the strategic report must, to 
the extent necessary for an understanding of the development, 
performance or position of the company’s business, include—

(a)	 the main trends and factors likely to affect the future 
development, performance and position of the company’s 
business, and

(b)	 information about—

(i)	 environmental matters (including the impact of the 
company’s business on the environment),

(ii)	 the company’s employees, and

(iii)	 social, community and human rights issues,

including information about any policies of the company 
in relation to those matters and the effectiveness of those 
policies.

If the report does not contain information of each kind mentioned in 
paragraphs (b)(i), (ii) and (iii), it must state which of those kinds of 
information it does not contain.

(8)	 In the case of a quoted company the strategic report must 
include—

(a)	 a description of the company’s strategy,

(b)	 a description of the company’s business model,

(c)	 a breakdown showing at the end of the financial year—

(i)	 the number of persons of each sex who were directors of 
the company;

(ii)	 the number of persons of each sex who were senior 
managers of the company (other than persons falling 
within sub-paragraph (i)); and

(iii)	 the number of persons of each sex who were employees of 
the company.

(9)	 In subsection (8), “senior manager” means a person who—

(a)	 has responsibility for planning, directing or controlling the 
activities of the company, or a strategically significant part of 
the company, and

(b)	 is an employee of the company.
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(10) In relation to a group strategic report—

(a)	 the reference to the company in subsection (8)(c)(i) is to the 
parent company; and

(b)	 the breakdown required by subsection (8)(c)(ii) must include 
the number of persons of each sex who were the directors of 
the undertakings included in the consolidation.

(11)	 The strategic report may also contain such of the matters 
otherwise required by regulations made under section 416(4) to be 
disclosed in the directors’ report as the directors consider are of 
strategic importance to the company.

(12)	The report must, where appropriate, include references to, and 
additional explanations of, amounts included in the company’s 
annual accounts.

(13)	Subject to paragraph (10), in relation to a group strategic report 
this section has effect as if the references to the company were 
references to the undertakings included in the consolidation.

(14)	Nothing in this section requires the disclosure of information about 
impending developments or matters in the course of negotiation 
if the disclosure would, in the opinion of the directors, be seriously 
prejudicial to the interests of the company.]

414CZA Section 172(1) statement

(1)	 A strategic report for a financial year of a company must include a 
statement (a “section 172(1) statement”) which describes how the 
directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1)
(a) to ( f) when performing their duty under section 172.

(2)	 Subsection (1) does not apply if the company qualifies as medium-
sized in relation to that financial year (see sections 465 to 467).]]

414C A Non-financial information statement

(1)	 A strategic report of a company must include a non-financial 
information statement if the company was at any time within the 
financial year to which the report relates—

(a)	 a traded company,

(b)	 a banking company,

(c)	 an authorised insurance company, or

(d)	 a company carrying on insurance market activity.

(2)	 If the company’s strategic report is a group strategic report, the 
non-financial information statement to be included in the report 
under subsection (1) must be a consolidated statement (a “group 
non-financial information statement”) relating to the undertakings 
included in the consolidation.

(3)	 Subsection (1) does not apply if—

(a)	 the company is subject to the small companies regime in 
relation to that financial year (see sections 382 to 384), or

(b)	 the company qualifies as medium-sized in relation to that 
financial year (see sections 465 to 467).
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(4)	 Subsection (1) does not apply if—

(a)	 where the company was not a parent company in that 
financial year, the company had no more than 500 employees 
in that financial year, or

(b)	 where the company was a parent company at any time within 
that financial year, the aggregate number of employees for a 
group headed by that company in that financial year was no 
more than 500.

(5)	 The number of employees means the average number of persons 
employed by the company in the year, determined as follows—

(a)	 find for each month in the financial year the number of persons 
employed under contracts of service by the company in that 
month (whether throughout the month or not),

(b)	 add together the monthly totals, and

(c)	 divide by the number of months in the financial year.

(6)	 The aggregate number of employees for a group is ascertained by 
aggregating the relevant figures determined in accordance with 
subsection (5) for each member of the group.

(8)	 Subsection (1) does not apply if the company is a subsidiary 
undertaking at the end of that financial year and is included in—

(a)	 a group strategic report of a parent undertaking of the 
company that satisfies the requirements in subsection (8), or

(b)	 a report that satisfies the requirements in subsection (9).

(8)	 The requirements in this subsection are that—

(a)	 the group strategic report relates to undertakings that include 
the company and its subsidiary undertakings (if any),

(b)	 the report is prepared for a financial year of the parent 
undertaking that ends at the same time as, or before the end 
of, the company’s financial year, and

(c)	 the report includes a group non-financial information 
statement in respect of all the undertakings included in the 
consolidation.

(9)	 The requirements in this subsection are that—

(a)	 the report is—

(i)	 a consolidated management report under Article 29 
of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament 
and of the Council on the annual financial statements, 
consolidated financial statements and related reports of 
certain types of undertakings, or

(ii)	 such separate report as is referred to in Article 19a(3) or 
29a(3) of that Directive,

(b)	 the report is the report of a parent undertaking of the company 
established under the law of an EEA State,
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(c)	 the report relates to undertakings that include the company 
and its subsidiary undertakings (if any), and

(d)	 the report includes such information as is required by Article 
19a (non-financial statement) or Article 29a (consolidated non-
financial statement), as the case may be.

(10)	 A company to which subsection (1) does not apply may include a 
non-financial information statement in its strategic report or, as 
the case may be, a group non-financial information statement in 
its group strategic report.

414C B Contents of non-financial information statement

(1)	 The non-financial information statement must contain information, 
to the extent necessary for an understanding of the company’s 
development, performance and position and the impact of its 
activity, relating to, as a minimum—

(a)	 environmental matters (including the impact of the company’s 
business on the environment),

(b)	 the company’s employees,

(c)	 social matters,

(d)	 respect for human rights, and

(e)	 anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters.

(2)	 The information must include—

(a)	 a brief description of the company’s business model,

(b)	 a description of the policies pursued by the company in 
relation to the matters mentioned in subsection (1) (a) to (e) 
and any due diligence processes implemented by the company 
in pursuance of those policies,

(c)	 a description of the outcome of those policies,

(d)	 a description of the principal risks relating to the matters 
mentioned in subsection (1)(a) to (e) arising in connection 
with the company’s operations and, where relevant and 
proportionate—

(i)	 a description of its business relationships, products and 
services which are likely to cause adverse impacts in those 
areas of risk, and

(ii)	 a description of how it manages the principal risks, and

(e)	 a description of the non-financial key performance indicators 
relevant to the company’s business.

(3)	 In subsection (2)(e), “key performance indicators” means factors 
by reference to which the development, performance or position of 
the company’s business, or the impact of the company’s activity, 
can be measured effectively.

(4)	 If the company does not pursue policies in relation to one or more 
of the matters mentioned in subsection (1)(a) to (e), the statement 
must provide a clear and reasoned explanation for the company’s 
not doing so.
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(5)	 The statement must, where appropriate, include references to, and 
additional explanations of, amounts included in the company’s 
annual accounts.

(6)	 If information required by subsections (1) to (5) to be included 
in the statement is published by the company by means of a 
national, EU-based or international reporting framework, the 
statement must specify the framework or frameworks used, 
instead of including that information.

(7)	 If a non-financial information statement complies with subsections 
(1) to (6), the strategic report of which it is part is to be treated as 
complying with the requirements in—

(a)	 section 414C(4)(b),

(b)	 section 414C(7), except as it relates to community issues,

(c)	 section 414C(8)(b), and

(d)	 section 414C(12), so far as relating to the provisions mentioned 
in paragraphs (a) to (c).

(8)	 In relation to a group non-financial information statement, 
this section has effect as if the references to the company were 
references to the undertakings included in the consolidation.

(9)	 Nothing in this section requires the disclosure of information about 
impending developments or matters in the course of negotiation 
if the disclosure would, in the opinion of the directors, be seriously 
prejudicial to the commercial interests of the company, provided 
that the non-disclosure does not prevent a fair and balanced 
understanding of the company’s development, performance or 
position or the impact of the company’s activity.

414D Approval and signing of strategic report

(1)	 The strategic report must be approved by the board of directors 
and signed on behalf of the board by a director or the secretary of 
the company.

(2)	 If a strategic report is approved that does not comply with the 
requirements of this Act, every director of the company who—

(a)	 knew that it did not comply, or was reckless as to whether it 
complied, and

(b)	 failed to take reasonable steps to secure compliance with 
those requirements or, as the case may be, to prevent the 
report from being approved, commits an offence.

(3)	 A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable—

(a)	 on conviction on indictment, to a fine;

(b)	 on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding the statutory 
maximum.

415 Duty to prepare directors’ report

(1)	 The directors of a company must prepare a directors’ report for 
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[(1A)Subsection (1) does not apply if the company qualifies as a 
micro-entity (see sections 384A and 384B).]

(2)	 For a financial year in which—

(a)	 the company is a parent company, and

(b)	 the directors of the company prepare group accounts, the 
directors’ report must be a consolidated report (a “group 
directors’ report”) relating to  the undertakings included in the 
consolidation.

(3)	 A group directors’ report may, where appropriate, give greater 
emphasis to the matters that are significant to the undertakings 
included in the consolidation, taken as a whole.

(4)	 In the case of failure to comply with the requirement to prepare a 
directors’ report, an offence is committed by every person who—

(a)	 was a director of the company immediately before the end of 
the period for filing accounts and reports for the financial year 
in question, and

(b)	 failed to take all reasonable steps for securing compliance 
with that requirement.

(5)	 A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable—

(a)	 on conviction on indictment, to a fine;

(b)	 on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding the statutory 
maximum.

416 Contents of directors’ report: general

(1)	 The directors’ report for a financial year must state—

(a)	 the names of the persons who, at any time during the financial 
year, were directors of the company, and

(b)	  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(2)	  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(3)	 Except in the case of a company [entitled to the small companies 
exemption], the report must state the amount (if any) that the 
directors recommend should be paid by way of dividend.

(4)	 The Secretary of State may make provision by regulations as to 
other matters that must be disclosed in a directors’ report.

Without prejudice to the generality of this power, the regulations may 
make any such provision as was formerly made by Schedule 7 to the 
Companies Act 1985.

418 Contents of directors’ report: statement as to disclosure to 
auditors

(1)	 This section applies to a company unless—

(a)	 it is exempt for the financial year in question from the 
requirements of Part 16 as to audit of accounts, and

(b)	 the directors take advantage of that exemption.

Note: More information on 
the directors’ report can be 
found in Schedule 7 of The 
Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008. See below.

Note: More information on 
the directors’ report can be 
found in Schedule 7 of The 
Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008. See below.
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(2)	 The directors’ report must contain a statement to the effect that, 
in the case of each of the persons who are directors at the time the 
report is approved—

(a)	 so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the company’s auditor is unaware, and

(b)	 he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a 
director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the company’s auditor is 
aware of that information.

(3)	 “Relevant audit information” means information needed by the 
company’s auditor in connection with preparing his report.

(4)	 A director is regarded as having taken all the steps that he ought 
to have taken as a director in order to do the things mentioned in 
subsection (2)(b) if he has—

(a)	 made such enquiries of his fellow directors and of the 
company’s auditors for that purpose, and

(b)	 taken such other steps (if any) for that purpose, as are 
required by his duty as a director of the company to exercise 
reasonable care, skill and diligence.

(5)	 Where a directors’ report containing the statement required by this 
section is approved but the statement is false, every director of the 
company who—

(a)	 knew that the statement was false, or was reckless as to 
whether it was false, and

(b)	 failed to take reasonable steps to prevent the report from 
being approved, commits an offence.

(6)	 A person guilty of an offence under subsection (5) is liable—

(a)	 on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term not 
exceeding two years or a fine (or both);

(b)	 on summary conviction—

(i)	 in England and Wales, to imprisonment for a term not 
exceeding twelve months or to a fine not exceeding the 
statutory maximum (or both);

(ii)	 in Scotland or Northern Ireland, to imprisonment for a term 
not exceeding six months, or to a fine not exceeding the 
statutory maximum (or both).

419 Approval and signing of directors’ report

(1)	 The directors’ report must be approved by the board of directors 
and signed on behalf of the board by a director or the secretary of 
the company.

(2)	 If in preparing the report advantage is taken of the small 
companies exemption,], it must contain a statement to that effect 
in a prominent position above the signature.

(3)	 If a directors’ report is approved that does not comply with the 
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(a)	 knew that it did not comply, or was reckless as to whether it 
complied, and

(b)	 failed to take reasonable steps to secure compliance with 
those requirements or, as the case may be, to prevent the 
report from being approved, commits an offence.

(4)	 A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable—

(a)	 on conviction on indictment, to a fine;

(b)	 on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding the statutory 
maximum.

420 Duty to prepare directors’ remuneration report

(1)	 The directors of a quoted company, or of a traded company (as 
defined by section 360C) that is not a quoted company, must 
prepare a directors’ remuneration report for each financial year of 
the company.

(2)	 In the case of failure to comply with the requirement to prepare a 
directors’ remuneration report, every person who—

(a)	 was a director of the company immediately before the end of 
the period for filing accounts and reports for the financial year 
in question, and

(b)	 failed to take all reasonable steps for securing compliance 
with that requirement, commits an offence.

(3)	 A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable—

(a)	 on conviction on indictment, to a fine;

(b)	 on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding the statutory 
maximum

433 Name of signatory to be stated in published copies of accounts and 
reports

(1)	 Every copy of a document to which this section applies that is 
published by or on behalf of the company must state the name of 
the person who signed it on behalf of the board.

(2)	 In the case of an unquoted company, this section applies to copies 
of—

(a)	 the company’s balance sheet, and

(b)	 the directors’ report.

(3)	 In the case of a quoted company, this section applies to copies 
of—

(a)	 the company’s balance sheet,

(b)	 the directors’ remuneration report, and

(c)	 the directors’ report.

(4)	 If a copy is published without the required statement of the 
signatory’s name, an offence is committed by—

(a)	 the company, and

Note: More information on 
the directors’ remuneration 
report can be found in 
Schedule 8 of The Large and 
Medium-sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008. 
See below.
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(5)	 A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the 
standard scale. 

441 Duty to file accounts and reports with the registrar

(1)	 The directors of a company must deliver to the registrar for each 
financial year the accounts and reports required by—

section 444 (filing obligations of companies subject to small 
companies regime),

section 444A (filing obligations of companies entitled to small 
companies exemption in relation to directors’ report),

section 445 (filing obligations of medium-sized companies),

section 446 (filing obligations of unquoted companies), or

section 447 (filing obligations of quoted companies).

444 Filing obligations of companies subject to small companies regime

(1)	 The directors of a company subject to the small companies 
regime—

(a)	 must deliver to the registrar for each financial year a copy of 
[the balance sheet] drawn up as at the last day of that year, 
and

(b)	 may also deliver to the registrar—

(i)	 a copy of the company’s profit and loss account for that 
year, and

(ii)	 acopy of the directors’ report for that year.

444A Filing obligations of companies entitled to small companies 
exemption in relation to directors’ report

(1)	 The directors of a company that is entitled to small companies 
exemption in relation to the directors’ report for a financial year—

(a)	 must deliver to the registrar a copy of the company’s annual 
accounts for that year, and

(b)	 may also deliver to the registrar a copy of the directors’ report.

445 Filing obligations of medium-sized companies

(1)	 The directors of a company that qualifies as a medium-sized 
company in relation to a financial year (see sections 465 to 467) 
must deliver to the registrar a copy of—

(a)	 the company’s annual accounts, ... 
[(aa) the strategic report, and]

(b)	 the directors’ report.

(2)	 They must also deliver to the registrar a copy of the auditor’s 
report on those accounts (and on [F3 the strategic report and] the 
directors’ report).
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(1)	 The directors of an unquoted company must deliver to the 
registrar for each financial year of the company a copy of—

(a)	 the company’s annual accounts, . . . 
[(aa) the strategic report,]

(b)	 the directors’ report [... 
[(ba) any directors’ remuneration report, and]

(c)	 any separate corporate governance statement.]

(2)	 The directors must also deliver to the registrar a copy of the 
auditor’s report on those accounts (and [the strategic report this 
is covered by the auditor’s report),] the directors’ report [any 
directors’ remuneration report] [and any separate corporate 
governance statement]).

This does not apply if the company is exempt from audit and the 
directors have taken advantage of that exemption.

447 Filing obligations of quoted companies

(1)	 The directors of a quoted company must deliver to the registrar for 
each financial year of the company a copy of—

(a)	 the company’s annual accounts,

(b)	 the directors’ remuneration report, . . . 
[(ba) the strategic report,]

(c)	 the directors’ report.[and

(d)	 any separate corporate governance statement.]

(2)	 They must also deliver a copy of the auditor’s report on those 
accounts (and on the directors’ remuneration report [the 
strategic report (where this is covered by the auditor’s report),] 
[the directors’ report and any separate corporate governance 
statement]).

448 Unlimited companies exempt from obligation to file accounts

(1)	 The directors of an unlimited company are not required to deliver 
accounts and reports to the registrar in respect of a financial year 
if the following conditions are met.

(2)	 The conditions are that at no time during the relevant accounting 
reference period—

(a)	 has the company been, to its knowledge, a subsidiary 
undertaking of an undertaking which was then limited, or

(b)	 have there been, to its knowledge, exercisable by or on behalf 
of two or more undertakings which were then limited, rights 
which if exercisable by one of them would have made the 
company a subsidiary undertaking of it, or

(c)	 has the company been a parent company of an undertaking 
which was then limited.

The references above to an undertaking being limited at a particular 
time are to an undertaking (under whatever law established) the 
liability of whose members is at that time limited.
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(3)	 The exemption conferred by this section does not apply if—

(a)	 the company is a banking or insurance company or the parent 
company of a banking or insurance group, or

(b)	 each of the members of the company is—

(i)	 a limited company,

(ii)	 another unlimited company each of whose members is a 
limited company,  . . .

(iii)	 a Scottish partnership [which is not a limited partnership,] 
each of whose members is a limited company [or

(iv)	 a Scottish partnership which is a limited partnership, each 
of whose general partners is a limited company.]]

SCHEDULE 7 MATTERS TO BE DEALT WITH IN DIRECTORS’ REPORT

PART 1 MATTERS OF A GENERAL NATURE

Introduction

1.	 In addition to the information required by section 416 of the 2006 
Act, the directors’ report must contain the following information.

Asset values

2.—(1)	 If, in the case of such of the fixed assets of the company as 
consist in interests in land, their market value (as at the end of 
the financial year) differs substantially from the amount at which 
they are included in the balance sheet, and the difference is, 
in the directors’ opinion, of such significance as to require that 
the attention of members of the company or of holders of its 
debentures should be drawn to it, the report must indicate the 
difference with such degree of precision as is practicable.

(2)	 In relation to a group directors’ report sub-paragraph (1) has 
effect as if the reference to the fixed assets of the company was a 
reference to the fixed assets of the company and of its subsidiary 
undertakings included in the consolidation.

Political donations and expenditure

3.—(1)	 If—

(a)	 the company (not being the wholly-owned subsidiary of a 
company incorporated in the United Kingdom) has in the 
financial year—

(i)	 made any political donation to any political party or other 
political organisation,

(ii)	 made any political donation to any independent election 
candidate, or

(iii)	 incurred any political expenditure, and

(b)	 the amount of the donation or expenditure, or (as the case may 
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be) the aggregate amount of all donations and expenditure 
falling within paragraph (a), exceeded £2000, the directors’ 
report for the year must contain the following particulars.

(2)	 Those particulars are—

(a)	 as respects donations falling within sub-paragraph (1)(a)(i) or 
(ii)—

(i)	 the name of each political party, other political 
organisation or independent election candidate to whom 
any such donation has been made, and

(ii)	 the total amount given to that party, organisation or 
candidate by way of such donations in the financial year; 
and

(b)	 as respects expenditure falling within sub-paragraph (1)(a)(iii), 
the total amount incurred by way of such expenditure in the 
financial year.

(3)	 If—

(a)	 at the end of the financial year the company has subsidiaries 
which have, in that year, made any donations or incurred any 
such expenditure as is mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(a), and

(b)	 it is not itself the wholly-owned subsidiary of a company 
incorporated in the United Kingdom, 

the directors’ report for the year is not, by virtue of sub-paragraph 
(1), required to contain the particulars specified in sub-paragraph 
(2). But, if the total amount of any such donations or expenditure 
(or both) made or incurred in that year by the company and the 
subsidiaries between them exceeds £2000, the directors’ report 
for the year must contain those particulars in relation to each body 
by whom any such donation or expenditure has been made or 
incurred.

(4)	 Any expression used in this paragraph which is also used in Part 
14 of the 2006 Act (control of political donations and expenditure) 
has the same meaning as in that Part.

4.—(1)	 If the company (not being the wholly-owned subsidiary of a 
company incorporated in the United Kingdom) has in the financial 
year made any contribution to a non-EU political party, the 
directors’ report for the year must contain—

(a)	 a statement of the amount of the contribution, or

(b)	 (if it has made two or more such contributions in the year) a 
statement of the total amount of the contributions.

(2)	 If—

(a)	 at the end of the financial year the company has subsidiaries 
which have, in that year, made any such contributions as are 
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1), and

(b)	 it is not itself the wholly-owned subsidiary of a company 
incorporated in the United Kingdom, the directors’ report 
for the year is not, by virtue of sub-paragraph (1), required 
to contain any such statement as is there mentioned, but 
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it must instead contain a statement of the total amount of 
the contributions made in the year by the company and the 
subsidiaries between them.

(3)	 In this paragraph, “contribution”, in relation to an organisation, 
means—

(a)	 any gift of money to the organisation (whether made directly 
or indirectly);

(b)	 any subscription or other fee paid for affiliation to, or 
membership of, the organisation; or

(c)	 any money spent (otherwise than by the organisation or a 
person acting on its behalf) in paying any expenses incurred 
directly or indirectly by the organisation.

(4)	 In this paragraph, “non-EU political party” means any political 
party which carries on, or proposes to carry on, its activities wholly 
outside the member States.

Charitable donations

5.—(1)	 If—

(a)	 the company (not being the wholly-owned subsidiary of a 
company incorporated in the United Kingdom) has in the 
financial year given money for charitable purposes, and

(b)	 the money given exceeded £2000 in amount, the directors’ 
report for the year must contain, in the case of each of the 
purposes for which money has been given, a statement of the 
amount of money given for that purpose.

(2)	 If—

(a)	 at the end of the financial year the company has subsidiaries 
which have, in that year, given money for charitable purposes, 
and

(b)	 it is not itself the wholly owned subsidiary of a company 
incorporated in the United Kingdom, sub-paragraph (1) does 
not apply to the company. 

But, if the amount given in that year for charitable purposes 
by the company and the subsidiaries between them exceeds 
£2000, the directors’ report for the year must contain, in 
the case of each of the purposes for which money has been 
given by the company and the subsidiaries between them, a 
statement of the amount of money given for that purpose.

(3)	 Money given for charitable purposes to a person who, when it was 
given, was ordinarily resident outside the United Kingdom is to be 
left out of account for the purposes of this paragraph.

(4)	 For the purposes of this paragraph, “charitable purposes” means 
purposes which are exclusively charitable, and as respects 
Scotland a purpose is charitable if it is listed in section 7(2) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 F1.
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Financial instruments

6.—(1)	 In relation to the use of financial instruments by a company, the 
directors’ report must contain an indication of—

(a)	 the financial risk management objectives and policies of the 
company, including the policy for hedging each major type of 
forecasted transaction for which hedge accounting is used, 
and

(b)	 the exposure of the company to price risk, credit risk, liquidity 
risk and cash flow risk, unless such information is not material 
for the assessment of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of the company.

(2)	 In relation to a group directors’ report sub-paragraph (1) has 
effect as if the references to the company were references to 
the company and its subsidiary undertakings included in the 
consolidation.

(3)	 In sub-paragraph (1) the expressions “hedge accounting”, “price 
risk”, “credit risk”, “liquidity risk” and “cash flow risk” have the 
same meaning as they have in Council Directive 78/660/EEC on 
the annual accounts of certain types of companies, and in Council 
Directive 83/349/EEC on consolidated accounts F2.

Miscellaneous

7.—(1)	 The directors’ report must contain—

(a)	 particulars of any important events affecting the company 
which have occurred since the end of the financial year,

(b)	 an indication of likely future developments in the business of 
the company,

(c)	 an indication of the activities (if any) of the company in the 
field of research and development, and

(d)	 (unless the company is an unlimited company) an indication of 
the existence of branches (as defined in section 1046(3) of the 
2006 Act) of the company outside the United Kingdom.

(2)	 In relation to a group directors’ report paragraphs (a), (b) and 
(c) of sub-paragraph (1) have effect as if the references to the 
company were references to the company and its subsidiary 
undertakings included in the consolidation.

PART 2 DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY COMPANY ACQUIRING ITS OWN 
SHARES ETC.

8.	 This Part of this Schedule applies where shares in a company—

(a)	 are purchased by the company or are acquired by it by 
forfeiture or surrender in lieu of forfeiture, or in pursuance of 
any of the following provisions (acquisition of own shares by 
company limited by shares)—

(i)	 section 143(3) of the Companies Act 1985 F3,

(ii)	 Article 153(3) of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 
1986 F4, or
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(iii)	 section 659 of the 2006 Act, or

(b)	 are acquired by another person in circumstances where 
paragraph (c) or (d) of any of the following provisions 
applies (acquisition by company’s nominee, or by another 
with company financial assistance, the company having a 
beneficial interest)—

(i)	 section 146(1) of the Companies Act 1985,

(ii)	 Article 156(1) of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 
1986 F6, or

(iii)	 section 662(1) of the 2006 Act applies, or

(c)	 are made subject to a lien or other charge taken (whether 
expressly or otherwise) by the company and permitted by 
any of the following provisions (exceptions from general 
rule against a company having a lien or charge on its own 
shares)—

(i)	 section 150(2) or (4) of the Companies Act 1985,

(ii)	 Article 160(2) or (4) of the Companies (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1986 F8, or

(iii)	 section 670(2) or (4) of the 2006 Act.

9.	 The directors’ report for a financial year must state—

(a)	 the number and nominal value of the shares so purchased, the 
aggregate amount of the consideration paid by the company 
for such shares and the reasons for their purchase;

(b)	 the number and nominal value of the shares so acquired 
by the company, acquired by another person in such 
circumstances and so charged respectively during the 
financial year;

(c)	 the maximum number and nominal value of shares which, 
having been so acquired by the company, acquired by another 
person in such circumstances or so charged (whether or not 
during that year) are held at any time by the company or that 
other person during that year;

(d)	 the number and nominal value of the shares so acquired 
by the company, acquired by another person in such 
circumstances or so charged (whether or not during that year) 
which are disposed of by the company or that other person or 
cancelled by the company during that year;

(e)	 where the number and nominal value of the shares of any 
particular description are stated in pursuance of any of the 
preceding sub-paragraphs, the percentage of the called-up 
share capital which shares of that description represent;

( f)	 where any of the shares have been so charged the amount of 
the charge in each case; and

(g)	 where any of the shares have been disposed of by the 
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company or the person who acquired them in such 
circumstances for money or money’s worth the amount or 
value of the consideration in each case.

PART 3 DISCLOSURE CONCERNING EMPLOYMENT ETC. OF DISABLED 
PERSONS

10.—(1)	 This Part of this Schedule applies to the directors’ report where 
the average number of persons employed by the company in each 
week during the financial year exceeded 250.

(2)	 That average number is the quotient derived by dividing, by the 
number of weeks in the financial year, the number derived by 
ascertaining, in relation to each of those weeks, the number of 
persons who, under contracts of service, were employed in the 
week (whether throughout it or not) by the company, and adding 
up the numbers ascertained.

(3)	 The directors’ report must in that case contain a statement 
describing such policy as the company has applied during the 
financial year—

(a)	 for giving full and fair consideration to applications for 
employment by the company made by disabled persons, 
having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities,

(b)	 for continuing the employment of, and for arranging 
appropriate training for, employees of the company who have 
become disabled persons during the period when they were 
employed by the company, and

(c)	 otherwise for the training, career development and promotion 
of disabled persons employed by the company.

(4)	 In this Part—

(a)	 “employment” means employment other than employment 
to work wholly or mainly outside the United Kingdom, and 
“employed” and “employee” are to be construed accordingly; 
and

(b)	 “disabled person” means the same as in the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995 F9.

PART 4 EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT

11.—(1)	 This Part of this Schedule applies to the directors’ report where 
the average number of persons employed by the company in each 
week during the financial year exceeded 250.

(2)	 That average number is the quotient derived by dividing, by the 
number of weeks in the financial year, the number derived by 
ascertaining, in relation to each of those weeks, the number of 
persons who, under contracts of service, were employed in the 
week (whether throughout it or not) by the company, and adding 
up the numbers ascertained.

(3)	 The directors’ report must in that case contain a statement 
describing the action that has been taken during the financial year 
to introduce, maintain or develop arrangements aimed at—

(a)	 providing employees systematically with information on 
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matters of concern to them as employees,

(b)	 consulting employees or their representatives on a regular 
basis so that the views of employees can be taken into account 
in making decisions which are likely to affect their interests,

(c)	 encouraging the involvement of employees in the company’s 
performance through an employees’ share scheme or by some 
other means,

(d)	 achieving a common awareness on the part of all employees of 
the financial and economic factors affecting the performance 
of the company.

(4)	  In sub-paragraph (3) “employee” does not include a person 
employed to work wholly or mainly outside the United Kingdom; 
and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) no regard is to be had 
to such a person.

PART 5 POLICY AND PRACTICE ON PAYMENT OF CREDITORS

12.—(1)	This Part of this Schedule applies to the directors’ report for a 
financial year if—

(a)	 the company was at any time within the year a public 
company, or

(b)	 the company did not qualify as small or medium-sized in 
relation to the year by virtue of section 382 or 465 of the 2006 
Act and was at any time within the year a member of a group 
of which the parent company was a public company.

(2)	 The report must state, with respect to the next following financial 
year—

(a)	 whether in respect of some or all of its suppliers it is the 
company’s policy to follow any code or standard on payment 
practice and, if so, the name of the code or standard and the 
place where information about, and copies of, the code or 
standard can be obtained,

(b)	 whether in respect of some or all of its suppliers it is the 
company’s policy—

(i)	 to settle the terms of payment with those suppliers when 
agreeing the terms of each transaction,

(ii)	 to ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the terms 
of payment, and

(iii)	 to abide by the terms of payment,

(c)	 where the company’s policy is not as mentioned in paragraph 
(a) or (b) in respect of some or all of its suppliers, what its 
policy is with respect to the payment of those suppliers; and 
if the company’s policy is different for different suppliers or 
classes of suppliers, the report must identify the suppliers 
to which the different policies apply. In this sub-paragraph 
references to the company’s suppliers are references to 
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persons who are or may become its suppliers.

(3)	 The report must also state the number of days which bears to the 
number of days in the financial year the same proportion as X 
bears to Y where—

X = the aggregate of the amounts which were owed to trade 
creditors at the end of the year; and

Y = the aggregate of the amounts in which the company was 
invoiced by suppliers during the year.

(4)	 For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) a person is a 
supplier of the company at any time if—

(a)	 at that time, he is owed an amount in respect of goods or 
services supplied, and

(b)	 that amount would be included under the heading 
corresponding to item E.4 (trade creditors) in format 1 if—

(i)	 the company’s accounts fell to be prepared as at that time,

(ii)	 those accounts were prepared in accordance with 
Schedule 1 to these Regulations, and

(iii)	 that format were adopted.

(5)	 For the purpose of sub-paragraph (3), the aggregate of the 
amounts which at the end of the financial year were owed to trade 
creditors is taken to be—

(a)	 where in the company’s accounts format 1 of the balance sheet 
formats set out in Part 1 of Schedule 1 to these Regulations is 
adopted, the amount shown under the heading corresponding 
to item E.4 (trade creditors) in that format,

(b)	 where format 2 is adopted, the amount which, under the 
heading corresponding to item C.4 (trade creditors) in that 
format, is shown as falling due within one year, and

(c)	 where the company’s accounts are prepared in accordance 
with Schedule 2 or 3 to these Regulations or the company’s 
accounts are IAS accounts, the amount which would be shown 
under the heading corresponding to item E.4 (trade creditors) 
in format 1 if the company’s accounts were prepared in 
accordance with Schedule 1 and that format were adopted.

PART 6 DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY CERTAIN PUBLICLY-TRADED 
COMPANIES

13.—(1)	This Part of this Schedule applies to the directors’ report for a 
financial year if the company had securities carrying voting rights 
admitted to trading on a regulated market at the end of that year.

(2)	 The report must contain detailed information, by reference to the 
end of that year, on the following matters—

(a)	 the structure of the company’s capital, including in particular—

(i)	 the rights and obligations attaching to the shares or, as 
the case may be, to each class of shares in the company, 
and
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(ii)	 where there are two or more such classes, the percentage of 
the total share capital represented by each class;

(b)	 any restrictions on the transfer of securities in the company, 
including in particular—

(i)	 limitations on the holding of securities, and

(ii)	 requirements to obtain the approval of the company, or of 
other holders of securities in the company, for a transfer of 
securities;

(c)	 in the case of each person with a significant direct or indirect 
holding of securities in the company, such details as are known 
to the company of—

(i)	 the identity of the person,

(ii)	 the size of the holding, and

(iii)	 the nature of the holding;

(d)	 in the case of each person who holds securities carrying special 
rights with regard to control of the company—

(i) the identity of the person, and

(ii) the nature of the rights;

(e)	 where—

(i)	 the company has an employees’ share scheme, and

(ii)	 shares to which the scheme relates have rights with regard 
to control of the company that are not exercisable directly 
by the employees, 

how those rights are exercisable;

( f)	 any restrictions on voting rights, including in particular—

(i)	 limitations on voting rights of holders of a given percentage 
or number of votes,

(ii)	 deadlines for exercising voting rights, and

(iii)	 arrangements by which, with the company’s co-operation, 
financial rights carried by securities are held by a person 
other than the holder of the securities;

(g)	 any agreements between holders of securities that are known 
to the company and may result in restrictions on the transfer of 
securities or on voting rights;

(h)	 any rules that the company has about—

(i)	 appointment and replacement of directors, or

(ii)	 amendment of the company’s articles of association;

(i)	 the powers of the company’s directors, including in particular 
any powers in relation to the issuing or buying back by the 
company of its shares;
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( j)	 any significant agreements to which the company is a party 
that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of 
the company following a takeover bid, and the effects of any 
such agreements;

(k)	 (any agreements between the company and its directors 
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office 
or employment (whether through resignation, purported 
redundancy or otherwise) that occurs because of a takeover 
bid.

(3)	 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a) a company’s capital 
includes any securities in the company that are not admitted to 
trading on a regulated market.

(4)	 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c) a person has an indirect 
holding of securities if—

(a)	 they are held on his behalf, or

(b)	 he is able to secure that rights carried by the securities are 
exercised in accordance with his wishes.

(5)	 Sub-paragraph (2)( j) does not apply to an agreement if—

(a)	 disclosure of the agreement would be seriously prejudicial to 
the company, and

(b)	 the company is not under any other obligation to disclose it.

(6)	 In this paragraph—

“securities” means shares or debentures;

“takeover bid” has the same meaning as in the Takeovers 
Directive;

“the Takeovers Directive” means Directive 2004/25/EC of the 
European Parliament and of the Council F10;

“voting rights” means rights to vote at general meetings of the 
company in question, including rights that arise only in certain 
circumstances.

14.  The directors’ report must also contain any necessary explanatory 
material with regard to information that is required to be included in 
the report by this Part.

SCHEDULE 8 QUOTED COMPANIES: DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
REPORT

PART 1 INTRODUCTORY

1.—(1)	 In the directors’ remuneration report for a financial year (“the 
relevant financial year”) there must be shown the information 
specified in Parts 2 and 3.

(2)	 Information required to be shown in the report for or in respect of 
a particular person must be shown in the report in a manner that 
links the information to that person identified by name.
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PART 2 INFORMATION NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Consideration by the directors of matters relating to directors’ 
remuneration

2.—(1)	 If a committee of the company’s directors has considered matters 
relating to the directors’ remuneration for the relevant financial 
year, the directors’ remuneration report must—

(a)	 name each director who was a member of the committee 
at any time when the committee was considering any such 
matter;

(b)	 name any person who provided to the committee advice, 
or services, that materially assisted the committee in their 
consideration of any such matter;

(c)	 in the case of any person named under paragraph (b), who is 
not a director of the company, state—

(i)	 the nature of any other services that that person has 
provided to the company during the relevant financial 
year; and

(ii)	 whether that person was appointed by the committee.

(2)	 In sub-paragraph (1)(b) “person” includes (in particular) any 
director of the company who does not fall within sub-paragraph (1)
(a).

Statement of company’s policy on directors’ remuneration

3.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain a statement of 
the company’s policy on directors’ remuneration for the following 
financial year and for financial years subsequent to that.

(2)	 The policy statement must include—

(a)	 for each director, a detailed summary of any performance 
conditions to which any entitlement of the director—

(i)	 to share options, or

(ii)	 under a long term incentive scheme, is subject;

(b)	 an explanation as to why any such performance conditions 
were chosen;

(c)	 a summary of the methods to be used in assessing whether 
any such performance conditions are met and an explanation 
as to why those methods were chosen;

(d)	 if any such performance condition involves any comparison 
with factors external to the company—

(i)	 a summary of the factors to be used in making each such 
comparison, and

(ii)	 if any of the factors relates to the performance of another 
company, of two or more other companies or of an index on 
which the securities of a company or companies are listed, 
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the identity of that company, of each of those companies 
or of the index;

(e)	 a description of, and an explanation for, any significant 
amendment proposed to be made to the terms and conditions 
of any entitlement of a director to share options or under a 
long term incentive scheme; and

(f)	 if any entitlement of a director to share options, or under a 
long term incentive scheme, is not subject to performance 
conditions, an explanation as to why that is the case.

(3)	 The policy statement must, in respect of each director’s terms 
and conditions relating to remuneration, explain the relative 
importance of those elements which are, and those which are not, 
related to performance.

(4)	 The policy statement must summarise, and explain, the 
company’s policy on—

(a)	 the duration of contracts with directors, and

(b)	 notice periods, and termination payments, under such 
contracts.

(5)	 In sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), references to a director are to any 
person who serves as a director of the company at any time in the 
period beginning with the end of the relevant financial year and 
ending with the date on which the directors’ remuneration report is 
laid before the company in general meeting.

Statement of consideration of conditions elsewhere in company and 
group

4.	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain a statement of 
how pay and employment conditions of employees of the company 
and of other undertakings within the same group as the company 
were taken into account when determining directors’ remuneration 
for the relevant financial year.

Performance graph

5.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must—

(a)	 contain a line graph that shows for each of—

(i)	 a holding of shares of that class of the company’s equity 
share capital whose listing, or admission to dealing, has 
resulted in the company falling within the definition of 
“quoted company”, and

(ii)	 a hypothetical holding of shares made up of shares of the 
same kinds and number as those by reference to which 
a broad equity market index is calculated, a line drawn 
by joining up points plotted to represent, for each of the 
financial years in the relevant period, the total shareholder 
return on that holding; and

(b)	 state the name of the index selected for the purposes of the 
graph and set out the reasons for selecting that index.

(2)	 For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (1) and (4), “relevant period” 
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means the five financial years of which the last is the relevant 
financial year.

(3)	  Where the relevant financial year—

(a)	 is the company’s second, third or fourth financial year, sub-
paragraph (2) has effect with the substitution of “ two ”, “ three 
” or “ four ” (as the case may be) for “five”; and

(b)	 is the company’s first financial year, “relevant period”, for the 
purposes of sub-paragraphs (1) and (4), means the relevant 
financial year.

(4)	 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the “total shareholder 
return” for a relevant period on a holding of shares must be 
calculated using a fair method that—

(a)	 takes as its starting point the percentage change over the 
period in the market price of the holding;

(b)	 involves making—

(i)	 the assumptions specified in sub-paragraph (5) as to 
reinvestment of income, and

(ii)	 the assumption specified in sub-paragraph (7) as to the 
funding of liabilities, and

(c)	 makes provision for any replacement of shares in the holding 
by shares of a different description; and the same method 
must be used for each of the holdings mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1).

(5)	 The assumptions as to reinvestment of income are—

(a)	 that any benefit in the form of shares of the same kind as those 
in the holding is added to the holding at the time the benefit 
becomes receivable; and

(b)	 that any benefit in cash, and an amount equal to the value of 
any benefit not in cash and not falling within paragraph (a), 
is applied at the time the benefit becomes receivable in the 
purchase at their market price of shares of the same kind as 
those in the holding and that the shares purchased are added 
to the holding at that time.

(6)	 In sub-paragraph (5) “benefit” means any benefit (including, in 
particular, any dividend) receivable in respect of any shares in the 
holding by the holder from the company of whose share capital the 
shares form part.

(7)	 The assumption as to the funding of liabilities is that, where the 
holder has a liability to the company of whose capital the shares in 
the holding form part, shares are sold from the holding—

(a)	 immediately before the time by which the liability is due to be 
satisfied, and

(b)	 in such numbers that, at the time of the sale, the market price 
of the shares sold equals the amount of the liability in respect 
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of the shares in the holding that are not being sold.

(8)	 In sub-paragraph (7) “liability” means a liability arising in 
respect of any shares in the holding or from the exercise of a right 
attached to any of those shares.

Service contracts

6.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain, in respect of the 
contract of service or contract for services of each person who 
has served as a director of the company at any time during the 
relevant financial year, the following information—

(a)	 the date of the contract, the unexpired term and the details of 
any notice periods;

(b)	 any provision for compensation payable upon early 
termination of the contract; and

(c)	 such details of other provisions in the contract as are 
necessary to enable members of the company to estimate the 
liability of the company in the event of early termination of the 
contract.

(2)	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain an explanation 
for any significant award made to a person in the circumstances 
described in paragraph 15.

PART 3 INFORMATION SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Amount of each director’s emoluments and compensation in the relevant 
financial year

7.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must for the relevant financial 
year show, for each person who has served as a director of the 
company at any time during that year, each of the following—

(a)	 the total amount of salary and fees paid to or receivable by 
the person in respect of qualifying services;

(b)	 the total amount of bonuses so paid or receivable;

(c)	 the total amount of sums paid by way of expenses allowance 
that are—

(i)	 chargeable to United Kingdom income tax (or would be if 
the person were an individual), and

(ii)	 paid to or receivable by the person in respect of qualifying 
services;

(d)	 the total amount of—

(i)	 any compensation for loss of office paid to or receivable by 
the person, and

(ii)	 any other payments paid to or receivable by the person in 
connection with the termination of qualifying services;

(e)	 the total estimated value of any benefits received by the 
person otherwise than in cash that—

(i)	 do not fall within any of paragraphs (a) to (d) or 
paragraphs 8 to 12,
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(ii)	 are emoluments of the person, and

(iii)	 are received by the person in respect of qualifying 
services; and

(f)	 the amount that is the total of the sums mentioned in 
paragraphs (a) to (e).

(2)	 The directors’ remuneration report must show, for each person 
who has served as a director of the company at any time during 
the relevant financial year, the amount that for the financial year 
preceding the relevant financial year is the total of the sums 
mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (1).

(3)	 The directors’ remuneration report must also state the nature of 
any element of a remuneration package which is not cash.

(4)	 The information required by sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) must be 
presented in tabular form.

Share options

8.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain, in respect of 
each person who has served as a director of the company at any 
time in the relevant financial year, the information specified in 
paragraph 9.

(2)	 Sub-paragraph (1) is subject to paragraph 10 (aggregation of 
information to avoid excessively lengthy reports).

(3)	 The information specified in sub-paragraphs (a) to (c) of 
paragraph 9 must be presented in tabular form in the report.

(4)	 In paragraph 9 “share option”, in relation to a person, means 
a share option granted in respect of qualifying services of the 
person.

9.	 The information required by sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 8 in 
respect of such a person as is mentioned in that sub-paragraph 
is—

(a)	 the number of shares that are subject to a share option—

(i)	 at the beginning of the relevant financial year or, if later, 
on the date of the appointment of the person as a director 
of the company, and

(ii)	 at the end of the relevant financial year or, if earlier, on 
the cessation of the person’s appointment as a director of 
the company, in each case differentiating between share 
options having different terms and conditions;

(b)	 information identifying those share options that have been 
awarded in the relevant financial year, those that have been 
exercised in that year, those that in that year have expired 
unexercised and those whose terms and conditions have been 
varied in that year;

(c)	 for each share option that is unexpired at any time in the 
relevant financial year—

Regulation Section in Regulation

The Large and Medium-
sized Companies and 
Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 
cont.

Appendix 4: United Kingdom Regulation cont.



WORKING PAPER 2020/02 | MCGUINNESS INSTITUTE 79

(i)	 the price paid, if any, for its award,

(ii)	 the exercise price,

(iii)	 the date from which the option may be exercised, and

(iv)	 the date on which the option expires;

(d)	 a description of any variation made in the relevant financial 
year in the terms and conditions of a share option;

(e)	 a summary of any performance criteria upon which the 
award or exercise of a share option is conditional, including a 
description of any variation made in such performance criteria 
during the relevant financial year;

( f)	 for each share option that has been exercised during the 
relevant financial year, the market price of the shares, in 
relation to which it is exercised, at the time of exercise; and

(g)	 for each share option that is unexpired at the end of the 
relevant financial year—

(i)	 the market price at the end of that year, and

(ii)	 the highest and lowest market prices during that year, of 
each share that is subject to the option.

10.—(1)	 If, in the opinion of the directors of the company, disclosure in 
accordance with paragraphs 8 and 9 would result in a disclosure 
of excessive length then, (subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and 
(3))—

(a)	 information disclosed for a person under paragraph 9(a) need 
not differentiate between share options having different terms 
and conditions;

(b)	 for the purposes of disclosure in respect of a person under 
paragraph 9(c)(i) and (ii) and (g), share options may be 
aggregated and (instead of disclosing prices for each share 
option) disclosure may be made of weighted average prices of 
aggregations of share options;

(c)	 for the purposes of disclosure in respect of a person under 
paragraph 9(c)(iii) and (iv), share options may be aggregated 
and (instead of disclosing dates for each share option) 
disclosure may be made of ranges of dates for aggregation of 
share options.

(2)	 Sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) does not permit the aggregation of—

(a)	 share options in respect of shares whose market price at the 
end of the relevant financial year is below the option exercise 
price, with

(b)	 share options in respect of shares whose market price at the 
end of the relevant financial year is equal to, or exceeds, the 
option exercise price.

(3)	 Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply (and accordingly, full disclosure 
must be made in accordance with paragraphs 8 and 9) in respect 
of share options that during the relevant financial year have been 
awarded or exercised or had their terms and conditions varied.
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Long term incentive schemes

11.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain, in respect of 
each person who has served as a director of the company at any 
time in the relevant financial year, the information specified in 
paragraph 12.

(2)	 Sub-paragraph (1) does not require the report to contain share 
option details that are contained in the report in compliance with 
paragraphs 8 to 10.

(3)	 The information specified in paragraph 12 must be presented in 
tabular form in the report.

(4)	 For the purposes of paragraph 12—

(a)	 “scheme interest”, in relation to a person, means an interest 
under a long term incentive scheme that is an interest in 
respect of which assets may become receivable under the 
scheme in respect of qualifying services of the person; and

(b)	 such an interest “vests” at the earliest time when—

(i)	 it has been ascertained that the qualifying conditions have 
been fulfilled, and

(ii)	 the nature and quantity of the assets receivable under the 
scheme in respect of the interest have been ascertained.

(5)	 In this Schedule “long term incentive scheme” means any 
agreement or arrangement under which money or other assets 
may become receivable by a person and which includes one or 
more qualifying conditions with respect to service or performance 
that cannot be fulfilled within a single financial year, and for this 
purpose the following must be disregarded, namely—

(a)	 any bonus the amount of which falls to be determined by 
reference to service or performance within a single financial 
year;

(b)	 compensation in respect of loss of office, payments for breach 
of contract and other termination payments; and

(c)	 retirement benefits.

12.—(1)	 The information required by sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 11 in 
respect of such a person as is mentioned in that sub-paragraph 
is—

(a)	 details of the scheme interests that the person has at the 
beginning of the relevant financial year or if later on the date 
of the appointment of the person as a director of the company;

(b)	 details of the scheme interests awarded to the person during 
the relevant financial year;

(c)	 details of the scheme interests that the person has at the end 
of the relevant financial year or if earlier on the cessation of 
the person’s appointment as a director of the company;
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(d)	 for each scheme interest within paragraphs (a) to (c)—

(i)	 the end of the period over which the qualifying conditions 
for that interest have to be fulfilled (or if there are different 
periods for different conditions, the end of whichever of 
those periods ends last); and

(ii)	 a description of any variation made in the terms and 
conditions of the scheme interests during the relevant 
financial year; and

(e)	 for each scheme interest that has vested in the relevant 
financial year—

(i)	 the relevant details (see sub-paragraph (3)) of any shares,

(ii)	 the amount of any money, and

(iii)	 the value of any other assets,

that have become receivable in respect of the interest.

(2)	 The details that sub-paragraph (1)(b) requires of a scheme interest 
awarded during the relevant financial year include, if shares may 
become receivable in respect of the interest, the following—

(a)	 the number of those shares;

(b)	 the market price of each of those shares when the scheme 
interest was awarded; and

(c)	 details of qualifying conditions that are conditions with respect 
to performance.

(3)	 In sub-paragraph (1)(e)(i) “the relevant details”, in relation to 
any shares that have become receivable in respect of a scheme 
interest, means—

(a)	 the number of those shares;

(b)	 the date on which the scheme interest was awarded;

(c)	 the market price of each of those shares when the scheme 
interest was awarded;

(d)	 the market price of each of those shares when the scheme 
interest vested; and

(e)	 details of qualifying conditions that were conditions with 
respect to performance.

Pensions

13.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must, for each person who 
has served as a director of the company at any time during the 
relevant financial year, contain the information in respect of 
pensions that is specified in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3).

(2)	 Where the person has rights under a pension scheme that is a 
defined benefit scheme in relation to the person and any of those 
rights are rights to which he has become entitled in respect of 
qualifying services of his—

(a)	 details—

(i)	 of any changes during the relevant financial year in the 

Regulation Section in Regulation

The Large and Medium-
sized Companies and 
Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 
cont.



WORKING PAPER 2020/02 | MCGUINNESS INSTITUTE82

person’s accrued benefits under the scheme, and

(ii)	 of the person’s accrued benefits under the scheme as at 
the end of that year;

(b)	 the transfer value, calculated in a manner consistent with 
“Retirement Benefit Schemes – Transfer Values (GN 11)” 
published by the Institute of Actuaries and the Faculty of 
Actuaries and dated 6th April 2001, of the person’s accrued 
benefits under the scheme at the end of the relevant financial 
year;

(c)	 the transfer value of the person’s accrued benefits under the 
scheme that in compliance with paragraph (b) was contained 
in the directors’ remuneration report for the previous financial 
year or, if there was no such report or no such value was 
contained in that report, the transfer value, calculated in such 
a manner as is mentioned in paragraph (b), of the person’s 
accrued benefits under the scheme at the beginning of the 
relevant financial year;

(d)	 the amount obtained by subtracting—

(i)	 the transfer value of the person’s accrued benefits under 
the scheme that is required to be contained in the report 
by paragraph (c), from

(ii)	 the transfer value of those benefits that is required to 
be contained in the report by paragraph (b), and then 
subtracting from the result of that calculation the amount 
of any contributions made to the scheme by the person in 
the relevant financial year.

(3)	 Where—

(a)	 the person has rights under a pension scheme that is a money 
purchase scheme in relation to the person, and

(b)	 any of those rights are rights to which he has become 
entitled in respect of qualifying services of his, details of any 
contribution to the scheme in respect of the person that is paid 
or payable by the company for the relevant financial year or 
paid by the company in that year for another financial year.

Excess retirement benefits of directors and past directors

14.—(1)	 Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the directors’ remuneration report 
must show in respect of each person who has served as a director 
of the company—

(a)	 at any time during the relevant financial year, or

(b)	 at any time before the beginning of that year, 

the amount of so much of retirement benefits paid to or receivable 
by the person under pension schemes as is in excess of the 
retirement benefits to which he was entitled on the date on which 
the benefits first became payable or 31st March 1997, whichever is 
the later.
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(2)	 In subsection (1) “retirement benefits” means retirement benefits 
to which the person became entitled in respect of qualifying 
services of his.

(3)	 Amounts paid or receivable under a pension scheme need not be 
included in an amount required to be shown under sub-paragraph 
if—

(a)	 the funding of the scheme was such that the amounts were or, 
as the case may be, could have been paid without recourse to 
additional contributions; and

(b)	 amounts were paid to or receivable by all pensioner members 
of the scheme on the same basis; and in this sub-paragraph 
“pensioner member”, in relation to a pension scheme, 
means any person who is entitled to the present payment of 
retirement benefits under the scheme.

(4) In this paragraph—

(a)	 references to retirement benefits include benefits otherwise 
than in cash; and

(b)	 in relation to so much of retirement benefits as consists of a 
benefit otherwise than in cash, references to their amount are 
to the estimated money value of the benefit, and the nature of 
any such benefit must also be shown in the report.

Compensation for past directors

15.	 The directors’ remuneration report must contain details of 
any significant award made in the relevant financial year to 
any person who was not a director of the company at the time 
the award was made but had previously been a director of the 
company, including (in particular) compensation in respect of loss 
of office and pensions but excluding any sums which have already 
been shown in the report under paragraph 7(1)(d).

Sums paid to third parties in respect of a director’s services

16.—(1)	 The directors’ remuneration report must show, in respect of each 
person who served as a director of the company at any time 
during the relevant financial year, the aggregate amount of any 
consideration paid to or receivable by third parties for making 
available the services of the person—

(a)	 as a director of the company, or

(b)	 while director of the company—

(i)	 as director of any of its subsidiary undertakings, or

(ii)	 as director of any other undertaking of which he was 
(while director of the company) a director by virtue of the 
company’s nomination (direct or indirect), or

(iii)	 otherwise in connection with the management of the 
affairs of the company or any such other undertaking.

(2)	 The reference to consideration includes benefits otherwise than 
in cash; and in relation to such consideration the reference to its 
amount is to the estimated money value of the benefit. 
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The nature of any such consideration must be shown in the report.

(3)	 The reference to third parties is to persons other than—

(a)	 the person himself or a person connected with him or a body 
corporate controlled by him, and

(b)	 the company or any such other undertaking as is mentioned in 
sub-paragraph (1)(b)(ii).
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INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING (NEW ZEALAND) 720 (REVISED) 

The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information (ISA (NZ) 720 (Revised)) 
This Standard was issued on 1 October 2015 by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board of the 
External Reporting Board pursuant to section 12(b) of the Financial Reporting Act 2013.   

This Standard is a disallowable instrument for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012, and pursuant to section 
27(1) of the Financial Reporting Act 2013 takes effect on 28 October 2015. 

An auditor that is required to apply this Standard is required to apply it for audits of financial statements for periods 
ending on or after 15 December 2016. However, early adoption is permitted. 

In finalising this Standard, the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board has carried out appropriate 
consultation in accordance with section 22(1) of the Financial Reporting Act 2013. 

This Standard has been issued as a result of International Standard on Auditing 720 being revised. 

This Standard, when applied, supersedes International Standard on Auditing (New Zealand) 720 The Auditor’s 
Responsibility in Relation to Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements. 

This appendix compares the adoption of the International Standard on Auditing (ISA 720) of New Zealand and 
the UK. Please note, the Australian standard (ISA 720) is very similar to the New Zealand equivalent and so is 
not listed in this appendix. As indicated in Section 2.3 of this working paper, a fee is required for access to the 
Canadian equivalent, which the Institute did not pay, and so the CAS 720 is also not listed in this appendix. 
Countries that adopt international standards have the autonomy to make limited modifications, subject to the 
IAASB’s guidance document: Modifications to International Standards of the International Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (IAASB). See Appendix 6. For example, the grey text boxes in Appendix 5 (ii) ISA (UK) 720 
indicate modifications that the UK has added to reflect more recent changes in legislation and best practice.

(i)	 New Zealand 
(XRB, 2015)
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ISA (NZ) 720 (REVISED) 

7 
 

(b) Securities offering documents, including prospectuses.  

8. The auditor’s responsibilities under this ISA (NZ) do not constitute an assurance 
engagement on other information or impose an obligation on the auditor to obtain 
assurance about the other information.  

9. Law or regulation may impose additional obligations on the auditor in relation to other 
information that are beyond the scope of this ISA (NZ).  

Effective Date 

10. This ISA (NZ) is effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after 
15 December 2016. 

NZ10.1 This ISA (NZ) supersedes ISA (NZ) 720, The Auditor’s Responsibility in Relation to 
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements. 

Objectives 
11. The objectives of the auditor, having read the other information, are: 

(a) To consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information 
and the financial statements; 

(b)  To consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information 
and the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit;  

(c)  To respond appropriately when the auditor identifies that such material 
inconsistencies appear to exist, or when the auditor otherwise becomes aware that 
other information appears to be materially misstated; and  

(d) To report in accordance with this ISA (NZ). 

Definitions 
12. For purposes of the ISAs (NZ), the following terms have the meanings attributed below: 

(a) Annual report – A document, or combination of documents, prepared typically on 
an annual basis by management or those charged with governance in accordance 
with law, regulation or custom, the purpose of which is to provide owners (or 
similar stakeholders) with information on the entity’s operations and the entity’s 
financial results and financial position as set out in the financial statements. An 
annual report contains or accompanies the financial statements and the auditor’s 
report thereon and usually includes information about the entity’s developments, its 
future outlook and risks and uncertainties, a statement by the entity’s governing 
body, and reports covering governance matters. (Ref: Para. A1–A5) 

(b) Misstatement of the other information – A misstatement of the other information 
exists when the other information is incorrectly stated or otherwise misleading 
(including because it omits or obscures information necessary for a proper 
understanding of a matter disclosed in the other information). (Ref: Para. A6–A7) 
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(c) Other information – Financial or non-financial information (other than financial 
statements and the auditor’s report thereon) included in an entity’s annual report. 
(Ref: Para. A8–A10) 

Requirements 
Obtaining the Other Information 

13. [Amended by the NZAuASB]. 

NZ13.1 The auditor shall: (Ref: Para. A11–A22)  

(a) Determine, through discussion with management, which document(s) comprises the 
annual report, and the entity’s planned manner and timing of the issuance of such 
document(s); 

(b) Make appropriate arrangements with management to obtain in a timely manner and, 
if possible, prior to the date of the auditor’s report, the final version of the 
document(s) comprising the annual report; and  

(c) When some or all of the document(s) determined in (a) will not be available until 
after the date of the auditor’s report, request those charged with governance to 
provide a written representation that the final version of the document(s) will be 
provided to the auditor when available, and prior to its issuance by the entity, such 
that the auditor can complete the procedures required by this ISA (NZ). (Ref: Para. 
A22) 

Reading and Considering the Other Information 

14. The auditor shall read the other information and, in doing so shall: (Ref: Para. A23–A24) 

(a) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information 
and the financial statements. As the basis for this consideration, the auditor shall, to 
evaluate their consistency, compare selected amounts or other items in the other 
information (that are intended to be the same as, to summarise, or to provide greater 
detail about, the amounts or other items in the financial statements) with such 
amounts or other items in the financial statements; and (Ref: Para. A25–A29) 

(b) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information 
and the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit, in the context of audit evidence 
obtained and conclusions reached in the audit. (Ref: Para. A30–A36) 

15. While reading the other information in accordance with paragraph 14, the auditor shall 
remain alert for indications that the other information not related to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit appears to be materially 
misstated. (Ref: Para. A24, A37–A38) 

Responding When a Material Inconsistency Appears to Exist or Other Information 
Appears to Be Materially Misstated  

16. If the auditor identifies that a material inconsistency appears to exist (or becomes aware 
that the other information appears to be materially misstated), the auditor shall discuss the 
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Reporting Prescribed by Law or Regulation 

24. If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to refer to the other 
information in the auditor’s report using a specific layout or wording, the auditor’s report 
shall refer to International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) only if the auditor’s 
report includes, at a minimum: (Ref: Para. A59)  

(a) Identification of the other information obtained by the auditor prior to the date of 
the auditor’s report;  

(b) A description of the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to the other information; 
and 

(c) An explicit statement addressing the outcome of the auditor’s work for this purpose. 

Documentation 

25. In addressing the requirements of ISA (NZ) 2304 as it applies to this ISA (NZ), the 
auditor shall include in the audit documentation:  

(a) Documentation of the procedures performed under this ISA (NZ); and 

(b) The final version of the other information on which the auditor has performed the 
work required under this ISA (NZ).  

*** 

Application and Other Explanatory Material 

Definitions 

Annual Report (Ref: Para. 12(a)) 

A1. Law, regulation or custom may define the content of an annual report, and the name by 
which it is to be referred, for entities in a particular jurisdiction; however, the content and 
the name may vary within a jurisdiction and from one jurisdiction to another.  

A2. An annual report is typically prepared on an annual basis. However, when the financial 
statements being audited are prepared for a period less than or more than a year, an 
annual report may also be prepared that covers the same period as the financial 
statements.  

A3. In some cases, an entity’s annual report may be a single document and referred to by the 
title “annual report” or by some other title. In other cases, law, regulation or custom may 
require the entity to report to owners (or similar stakeholders) information on the entity’s 
operations and the entity’s financial results and financial position as set out in the 
financial statements (i.e., an annual report) by way of a single document, or by way of 
two or more separate documents that in combination serve the same purpose. For 
example, depending on law, regulation or custom in a particular jurisdiction, one or more 
of the following documents may form part of the annual report: 

                                                      
4  ISA (NZ) 230, Audit Documentation, paragraphs 8–11 
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 Management report, management commentary, or operating and financial review or 
similar reports by those charged with governance (for example, a directors’ report).  

 Chairman’s statement. 

 Corporate governance statement. 

 Internal control and risk assessment reports. 

A4. An annual report may be made available to users in printed form, or electronically, 
including on the entity’s website. A document (or combination of documents) may meet 
the definition of an annual report, irrespective of the manner in which it is made available 
to users.  

A5. An annual report is different in nature, purpose and content from other reports, such as a 
report prepared to meet the information needs of a specific stakeholder group or a report 
prepared to comply with a specific regulatory reporting objective (even when such a 
report is required to be publicly available). Examples of reports that, when issued as 
standalone documents, are not typically part of the combination of documents that 
comprise an annual report (subject to law, regulation or custom), and that, therefore, are 
not other information within the scope of this ISA (NZ), include: 

 Separate industry or regulatory reports (for example, capital adequacy reports), such 
as may be prepared in the banking, insurance, and pension industries. 

 Corporate social responsibility reports. 

 Sustainability reports. 

 Diversity and equal opportunity reports. 

 Product responsibility reports. 

 Labour practices and working conditions reports. 

 Human rights reports. 

Misstatement of the Other Information (Ref: Para. 12(b)) 

A6. When a particular matter is disclosed in the other information, the other information may 
omit or obscure information that is necessary for a proper understanding of that matter. 
For example, if the other information purports to address the key performance indicators 
used by management, then omission of a key performance indicator used by management 
could indicate that the other information is misleading.  

A7. The concept of materiality may be discussed in a framework applicable to the other 
information and, if so, such a framework may provide a frame of reference for the auditor 
in making judgements about materiality under this ISA (NZ). In many cases, however, 
there may be no applicable framework that includes a discussion of the concept of 
materiality as it applies to the other information. In such circumstances, the following 
characteristics provide the auditor with a frame of reference in determining if a 
misstatement of the other information is material: 

 Materiality is considered in the context of the common information needs of users 
as a group. The users of the other information are expected to be the same as the 
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7. This ISA (UK) does not apply to: 

(a) Preliminary announcements of financial information; or 

(b) Securities offering documents, including prospectuses. 

8. The auditor’s responsibilities under this ISA (UK) do not constitute an assurance 
engagement on other information or impose an obligation on the auditor to obtain 
assurance about the other information except in respect of the auditor’s responsibilities 
to report in accordance with paragraphs 22-1 and 22-2. 

9. Law or regulation may impose additional obligations on the auditor in relation to other 
information that are beyond the scope of this ISA (UK). 

Effective Date 

10. This ISA (UK) is effective for audits of financial statements for periods commencing on 
or after 15 December 2019. 

Objectives 
11. The objectives of the auditor, having read the other information, are: 

(a) To consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other 
information and the financial statements; 

(b) To consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other 
information and the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit; 

(c) To respond appropriately when the auditor identifies that such material 
inconsistencies appear to exist, or when the auditor otherwise becomes aware 
that other information appears to be materially misstated; 

(c)-1 Where required by law or regulation, to form an opinion on whether the 
information given in the other information is consistent with the financial 
statements and the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit; and 

(d) To report in accordance with this ISA (UK). 

Definitions 
12. For purposes of the ISAs (UK), the following terms have the meanings attributed below: 

(a) Annual report – A document, or combination of documents, prepared typically on 
an annual basis by management or those charged with governance in 
accordance with law, regulation or custom, the purpose of which is to provide 
owners (or similar stakeholders) with information on the entity’s operations and 
the entity’s financial results and financial position as set out in the financial 
statements. An annual report contains or accompanies the financial statements 
and the auditor’s report thereon and usually includes information about the 
entity’s developments, its future outlook and risks and uncertainties, a statement 
by the entity’s governing body, and reports covering governance matters. 
(Ref: Para. A1–A5) 

In the UK, an annual report includes at least: 

(i) The statutory other information; and 

(ii) Any other documents that are incorporated by cross-reference in, or 
distributed to shareholders with, statutory other information either 

Appendix 5: International Standard on Auditing (ISA 720) cont.
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voluntarily or pursuant to law or regulation or the requirements of a stock 
exchange listing. 

(b) Misstatement of the other information – A misstatement of the other information 
exists when the other information is incorrectly stated or otherwise misleading 
(including because it omits or obscures information necessary for a proper 
understanding of a matter disclosed in the other information). (Ref: Para. A6–A7-
2) 

In the UK, a misstatement of the other information also exists when the statutory 
other information has not been prepared in accordance with the legal and 
regulatory requirements applicable to the statutory other information. 

(c) Other information – Financial or non-financial information (other than financial 
statements and the auditor’s report thereon) included in an entity’s annual report. 
(Ref: Para. A8–A10) 

 

(d) Statutory other information – Those documents or reports that are required to be 
prepared and issued by the entity (including any reports or documents that are 
incorporated by cross reference) in relation to which the auditor is required to 
report publicly in accordance with law or regulation. (Ref: Para. A10-1–A10-3) 

  

Requirements 
Obtaining an Understanding of the Entity and its Environment relating to Statutory 
Other Information 

12-1. For entities that are required to prepare statutory other information, as part of obtaining 
an understanding of the entity and its environment in accordance with ISA (UK) 315 
(Revised June 2016),2b the auditor shall obtain an understanding of: 

 (a) The legal and regulatory requirements applicable to the statutory other 
information; and 

 (b) How the entity is complying with those legal and regulatory requirements. 

Obtaining the Other Information 

13. The auditor shall: (Ref: Para. A11–A22-1) 

(a) Determine, through discussion with management, which document(s) comprises 
the annual report, and the entity’s planned manner and timing of the issuance of 
such document(s); 

(b) Make appropriate arrangements with management to obtain in a timely manner 
and, if possible, prior to the date of the auditor’s report, the final version of the 
document(s) comprising the annual report; and 

(c) When some or all of the document(s) determined in (a) will not be available until 
after the date of the auditor’s report, request management to provide a written 
representation that the final version of the document(s) will be provided to the 

 
2b  ISA (UK) 315 (Revised June 2016), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement 

through Understanding the Entity and its Environment, paragraph 11. 
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auditor when available, and prior to its issuance by the entity, such that the 
auditor can complete the procedures required by this ISA (UK). (Ref: Para. A22) 

Reading and Considering the Other Information 

14. The auditor shall read the other information and, in doing so shall: (Ref: Para. A23–A24) 

(a) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information 
and the financial statements. As the basis for this consideration, the auditor shall, 
to evaluate their consistency, compare selected amounts or other items in the 
other information (that are intended to be the same as, to summarize, or to 
provide greater detail about, the amounts or other items in the financial 
statements) with such amounts or other items in the financial statements; and 
(Ref: Para. A25–A29) 

(b) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the other information 
and the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit, in the context of audit evidence 
obtained and conclusions reached in the audit. (Ref: Para. A30–A36) 

14-1. For entities that are required to prepare statutory other information, the auditor shall 
read the statutory other information and, in doing so shall consider, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit, whether the statutory other information appears 
to be materially misstated in the context of the auditor’s understanding of the legal and 
regulatory requirements applicable to the statutory other information. (Ref: Para. A36-
1–A36-4) 

14-2. For entities that are required to prepare statutory other information, as the basis for the 
consideration required by paragraphs 14(a), 14(b) and 14-1, the auditor shall perform 
such procedures as are necessary in the auditor’s professional judgment to identify: 

 (a) Any material inconsistencies between the other information and the financial 
statements; 

 (b) Any material inconsistencies between the other information and the auditor’s 
knowledge obtained in the audit, in the context of audit evidence obtained and 
conclusions reached in the audit; and 

 (c) Whether the statutory other information appears to be materially misstated in the 
context of the auditor’s understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements 
applicable to the statutory other information. 

15. While reading the other information in accordance with paragraph 14, the auditor shall 
remain alert for indications that the other information not related to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit appears to be materially 
misstated. (Ref: Para. A24, A37–A38) 

Responding When a Material Inconsistency Appears to Exist or Other Information 
Appears to Be Materially Misstated 

16. If the auditor identifies that a material inconsistency appears to exist (or becomes 
aware that the other information appears to be materially misstated), the auditor shall 
discuss the matter with management and, if necessary, perform other procedures to 
conclude whether: (Ref: Para. A39–A43) 

(a) A material misstatement of the other information exists; 

(b) A material misstatement of the financial statements exists; or 
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23. When the auditor expresses a qualified or adverse opinion in accordance with ISA 
(UK) 705 (Revised June 2016),3 the auditor shall consider the implications of the matter 
giving rise to the modification of opinion for the statement required in paragraph 22(e). 
(Ref: Para. A54–A58) 

Reporting Prescribed by Law or Regulation 

24. If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to refer to the 
other information in the auditor’s report using a specific layout or wording, the auditor’s 
report shall refer to International Standards on Auditing only if the auditor’s report 
includes, at a minimum: (Ref: Para. A59) 

(a) Identification of the other information obtained by the auditor prior to the date of 
the auditor’s report; 

(b) A description of the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to the other information; 
and 

(c) An explicit statement addressing the outcome of the auditor’s work for this 
purpose. 

Documentation 

25. In addressing the requirements of ISA (UK) 230 (Revised June 2016)4 as it applies to 
this ISA (UK), the auditor shall include in the audit documentation: 

(a) Documentation of the procedures performed under this ISA (UK); and 

(b) The final version of the other information on which the auditor has performed the 
work required under this ISA (UK). 

*** 

Application and Other Explanatory Material 
Definitions 

Annual Report (Ref: Para. 12(a)) 

A1. Law, regulation or custom may define the content of an annual report, and the name 
by which it is to be referred, for entities in a particular jurisdiction; however, the content 
and the name may vary within a jurisdiction and from one jurisdiction to another. 

A2. An annual report is typically prepared on an annual basis. However, when the financial 
statements being audited are prepared for a period less than or more than a year, an 
annual report may also be prepared that covers the same period as the financial 
statements. 

A3. In some cases, an entity’s annual report may be a single document and referred to by 
the title “annual report” or by some other title. In other cases, law, regulation or custom 
may require the entity to report to owners (or similar stakeholders) information on the 
entity’s operations and the entity’s financial results and financial position as set out in 
the financial statements (i.e., an annual report) by way of a single document, or by way 
of two or more separate documents that in combination serve the same purpose. For 

 
3  ISA (UK) 705 (Revised June 2016), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s 

Report. 
4  ISA (UK) 230 (Revised June 2016), Audit Documentation, paragraphs 8–11. 
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the users of the financial statements as such users may be expected to read the 
other information to provide context to the financial statements. 

• Judgments about materiality take into account the specific circumstances of the 
misstatement, considering whether users would be influenced by the effect of the 
uncorrected misstatement. Not all misstatements will influence the economic 
decisions of users. 

• Judgments about materiality involve both qualitative and quantitative 
considerations. Accordingly, such judgments may take into account the nature or 
magnitude of the items that the other information addresses in the context of the 
entity’s annual report. 

A7-1. For some entities, UK legislation sets out those documents that form part of the annual 
report and the information that is required to be included in the annual report (excluding 
the financial statements and the auditor's report). The relevant legislation may not refer 
to or define "materiality" in the context of the other information, but materiality may be 
implicit in the requirements. For example, terms "key" (e.g., key performance 
indicators) or "principal" (e.g., principal risks) refer to facts or circumstances that are 
(or should be) considered material to a user’s understanding. The auditor may consider 
these and similar terms, in the context of the entity, when determining materiality of 
the other information. 

A7-2. To the extent that the relevant legal requirements do not provide a comprehensive 
discussion about materiality in the context of the other information, paragraph A7 of 
this ISA (UK) may be relevant to the auditor's judgments about whether the other 
information is materially misstated. 

A7-3. Other information is material if its omission or misrepresentation could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions users take on the basis of the annual 
report as a whole. 

Other Information (Ref: Para. 12(c)) 

A8. Appendix 1 contains examples of amounts or other items that may be included in the 
other information. 

A9. In some cases, the applicable financial reporting framework may require specific 
disclosures but permit them to be located outside of the financial statements.5 As such 
disclosures are required by the applicable financial reporting framework, they form part 
of the financial statements. Accordingly, they do not constitute other information for the 
purpose of this ISA (UK). 

A10. eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL) tags do not represent other 
information as defined in this ISA (UK). 

Statutory Other Information (Ref: Para. 12(d)) 

A10-1. In the UK, the statutory other information for companies includes, where required to be 
prepared: 

 
5  For example, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 7, “Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures,” permits certain disclosures required by the IFRSs to either be given in the financial 
statements or incorporated by cross-reference from the financial statements to some other 
statement, such as a management commentary or risk report, that is available to users of the 
financial statements on the same terms as the financial statements and at the same time. 
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 (i) The directors’ report; 

 (ii) The strategic report; 

 (iii) The separate corporate governance statement.5a 

A10-2. Auditors of other entities (e.g., charities or pension funds) may also be required to 
report  on statutory other information in accordance with law or regulation. 

A10-3. Information given in the statutory other information includes information that is included 
by way of cross reference to other information presented separately from the statutory 
other information. For example, a UK entity may decide to present a voluntary 
Operating and Financial Review (OFR) which includes some or all of the matters 
required for the business performance review section of the Strategic Report or the 
Directors’ Report. Rather than duplicate the information, the entity may cross refer from 
the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report to the relevant information provided in the 
OFR. 

Obtaining the Other Information (Ref: Para. 13) 

A11. Determining the document(s) that is or comprises the annual report is often clear based 
on law, regulation or custom. In many cases, management or those charged with 
governance may have customarily issued a package of documents that together 
comprise the annual report, or may have committed to do so. In some cases, however, 
it may not be clear which document(s) is or comprises the annual report. In such cases, 
the timing and purpose of the documents (and for whom they are intended) are matters 
that may be relevant to the auditor’s determination of which document(s) is or 
comprises the annual report. 

A12. When the annual report is translated into other languages pursuant to law or regulation 
(such as may occur when a jurisdiction has more than one official language), or when 
multiple “annual reports” are prepared under different legislation (for example, when 
an entity is listed in more than one jurisdiction), consideration may need to be given as 
to whether one, or more than one of the “annual reports” form part of the other 
information. Local law or regulation may provide further guidance in this respect. 

A13. Management, or those charged with governance, is responsible for preparing the 
annual report. The auditor may communicate with management or those charged with 
governance: 

• The auditor’s expectations in relation to obtaining the final version of the annual 
report (including a combination of documents that together comprise the annual 
report) in a timely manner prior to the date of the auditor’s report such that the 
auditor can complete the procedures required by this ISA (UK) before the date of 
the auditor’s report, or if that is not possible, as soon as practicable and in any 
case prior to the entity’s issuance of such information. 

• The possible implications when the other information is obtained after the date of 
the auditor’s report. 

A14. The communications referred to in paragraph A13 may be particularly appropriate for 
example: 

 
5a  When the required information is not included within or incorporated by cross reference to the 

directors’ report. 
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5a  When the required information is not included within or incorporated by cross reference to the 
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management explanations may indicate reasonable and sufficient grounds for valid 
differences of judgment. 

A40. Conversely, the discussion with management may provide further information that 
supports the auditor’s conclusion that a material misstatement of the other information 
exists. 

A40-1. The auditor assesses whether any inconsistency or misstatement of the other 
information is material, taking into account both the size and the nature of the 
inconsistency or misstatement. For example, regulation requires certain entities to 
disclose political donations if the aggregate donations are in excess of a quantitative 
threshold. This threshold may be below the auditor’s materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole or performance materiality. However, the auditor also considers 
qualitative factors in determining whether a misstatement in the amount of political 
donations is material or not. 

A41. It may be more difficult for the auditor to challenge management on matters of 
judgment than on those of a more factual nature. However, there may be 
circumstances where the auditor concludes that the other information contains a 
statement that is not consistent with the financial statements or the auditor’s knowledge 
obtained in the audit. These circumstances may raise doubt about the other 
information, the financial statements, or the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit. 

A42. As there is a wide range of possible material misstatements of the other information, 
the nature and extent of other procedures the auditor may perform to conclude whether 
a material misstatement of the other information exists are matters of the auditor’s 
professional judgment in the circumstances. 

A43. When a matter is unrelated to the financial statements or the auditor’s knowledge 
obtained in the audit, the auditor may not be able to fully assess management’s 
responses to the auditor’s inquiries. Nevertheless, based on management’s further 
information or explanations, or following changes made by management to the other 
information, the auditor may be satisfied that a material inconsistency no longer 
appears to exist or that the other information no longer appears to be materially 
misstated. When the auditor is unable to conclude that a material inconsistency no 
longer appears to exist or that the other information no longer appears to be materially 
misstated, the auditor may request management to consult with a qualified third party 
(for example, a management’s expert or legal counsel). In certain cases, after 
considering the responses from management’s consultation, the auditor may not be 
able to conclude whether or not a material misstatement of the other information exists. 
Actions the auditor may then take include one or more of the following: 

• Obtaining advice from the auditor’s legal counsel; 

• Considering the implications for the auditor’s report for example, whether to 
describe the circumstances when there is a limitation imposed by management; 
or 

• Withdrawing from the audit, where withdrawal is possible under applicable law or 
regulation. 
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exists. 

A40-1. The auditor assesses whether any inconsistency or misstatement of the other 
information is material, taking into account both the size and the nature of the 
inconsistency or misstatement. For example, regulation requires certain entities to 
disclose political donations if the aggregate donations are in excess of a quantitative 
threshold. This threshold may be below the auditor’s materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole or performance materiality. However, the auditor also considers 
qualitative factors in determining whether a misstatement in the amount of political 
donations is material or not. 

A41. It may be more difficult for the auditor to challenge management on matters of 
judgment than on those of a more factual nature. However, there may be 
circumstances where the auditor concludes that the other information contains a 
statement that is not consistent with the financial statements or the auditor’s knowledge 
obtained in the audit. These circumstances may raise doubt about the other 
information, the financial statements, or the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit. 

A42. As there is a wide range of possible material misstatements of the other information, 
the nature and extent of other procedures the auditor may perform to conclude whether 
a material misstatement of the other information exists are matters of the auditor’s 
professional judgment in the circumstances. 

A43. When a matter is unrelated to the financial statements or the auditor’s knowledge 
obtained in the audit, the auditor may not be able to fully assess management’s 
responses to the auditor’s inquiries. Nevertheless, based on management’s further 
information or explanations, or following changes made by management to the other 
information, the auditor may be satisfied that a material inconsistency no longer 
appears to exist or that the other information no longer appears to be materially 
misstated. When the auditor is unable to conclude that a material inconsistency no 
longer appears to exist or that the other information no longer appears to be materially 
misstated, the auditor may request management to consult with a qualified third party 
(for example, a management’s expert or legal counsel). In certain cases, after 
considering the responses from management’s consultation, the auditor may not be 
able to conclude whether or not a material misstatement of the other information exists. 
Actions the auditor may then take include one or more of the following: 

• Obtaining advice from the auditor’s legal counsel; 

• Considering the implications for the auditor’s report for example, whether to 
describe the circumstances when there is a limitation imposed by management; 
or 

• Withdrawing from the audit, where withdrawal is possible under applicable law or 
regulation. 
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Entities That Are Required to Prepare Statutory Other Information (Ref: Para. 22-1) 

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report 

A53-4. In the UK, under Section 496 of the Companies Act 2006,15d the auditor is required to 
state in the auditor’s report: 

 (a) Whether, in the auditor’s opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of 
the audit: 

  (i) The information given in the strategic report (if any) and the directors’ report 
for the financial year for which the accounts are prepared is consistent with 
those accounts; and 

  (ii) Any such strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements; and 

 (b) Whether, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, the auditor has identified material 
misstatements in the strategic report (if any) and the directors’ report; and 

 If the auditor identifies any material misstatements in the strategic or directors' report, 
the auditor is required to give an indication of the nature of each of the misstatements. 

Separate Corporate Governance Statement 

A53-5. UK legislation15e requires certain entities to include a Corporate Governance 
Statement, either: 

 ● As a specific section of the directors’ report; or 

 ● In a separate report which is either: 

  ○ Published together with, and in the same manner as, its annual report; or 

  ○ By means of a cross reference in its directors’ report to where such 
document is publicly available on the company’s website. 

A53-6. For entities that choose to include a Corporate Governance Statement as a separate 
report, the auditor is required to state in the auditor’s report: 

 (a) Whether, in the auditor’s opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of 
the audit, the information given in the statement in compliance with rules 7.2.5 
and 7.2.6 in the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules Sourcebook made 
by the Financial Conduct Authority (information about internal control and risk 
management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about 
share capital structures): 

  (i) Is consistent with those accounts; and 

  (ii) Has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements; 

 (b) Whether, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, the auditor has identified material 

 
15d  Section 496 of the Companies Act 2006. 
15e  In the UK, Section 497A of the Companies Act 2006. Similar requirements apply to other types of 

entities e.g. building societies.  
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Appendix 6: IAASB Modifications to International Standards
(IAASB, 2006)



WORKING PAPER 2020/02 | MCGUINNESS INSTITUTE96

A GUIDE FOR NATIONAL STANDARD SETTERS THAT ADOPT IAASB’S INTERNATIONAL 
STANDARDS BUT FIND IT NECESSARY TO MAKE LIMITED MODIFICATIONS 

 

 3

10. Modifications to ISs shall be subject to a satisfactory due process established by the NSS.3 
Furthermore, the NS shall highlight or explain modifications to the ISs. In addition, NSSs 
shall communicate modifications falling within paragraph 9(b), which are expected to be 
rare, to IAASB. 

Other Matters 
11. An NSS to whom this guidance applies may refer to its NSs as conforming to one or more 

of the categories of ISs referred to in paragraph 6(b)-(e) only if the International Standards 
on Quality Control and all current ISs of the relevant category have been included.  Where 
the NSS has not included all current ISs (for example, because of delays in issuing a new 
IS for national use), the NSS shall appropriately qualify the reference to conformity with 
the ISs and clearly disclose which ISs have and have not been included. 

12. IAASB encourages NSSs to maintain a record of how the ISs have been included in the 
NSs, sufficient to demonstrate what has or has not been included, and that such inclusion 
has been effected so as to avoid any change in meaning and effect. 

13. It is recommended that translations of the ISs be made in accordance with a process 
conforming to the Policy Statement, Translation of Standards and Guidance Issued by the 
International Federation of Accountants (issued September 2004). 

                                                 
3  A satisfactory due process is an established and transparent process involving deliberation and consideration of 

the views of a wide range of stakeholders. 
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guidance1 of the ISs in that category.  It is not necessary that all the requirements and 
guidance of an IS be included in a single NS. Different elements of an IS may be included 
in different NSs, provided that: 

(a) Those standards together include all the requirements and guidance of the IS; and 

(b) The requirements and guidance included in the NS carry the same intention (as to 
their meaning and effect) and authority as they do in the IS. This condition requires 
that there is nothing in the way in which the requirements have been included that 
undermines their meaning and effect, and that a professional accountant following 
the NSs is obliged to consider all the guidance, as included, in order to understand 
and apply the requirements, as included. 

8. For the purposes of conformity under this policy, the NSS shall limit additions to an IS to 
the following: 

(a) National legal and regulatory requirements. 

(b) Other requirements or guidance that are not inconsistent with the current 
requirements or guidance in the IS. 

NSSs are encouraged to communicate additions falling within paragraph 8(b) to IAASB 
for future consideration. 

9. For the purposes of conformity under this policy, the NSS shall limit deletions from, or 
other amendments to, an IS to the following: 

(a) The elimination of options (alternatives) provided for in the IS. 

(b) Requirements or guidance, the application of which law or regulation does not 
permit, or which require amendment to be consistent with law or regulation. 

(c) Requirements or guidance, where the IS recognizes that different practices may 
apply in different jurisdictions and the NSS is in such a jurisdiction. 

In the case of paragraph 9(b)-(c), however, the objective of any deleted requirement must 
still be met. Consequently, it will be necessary for the NSS to replace the deleted 
requirement with an appropriate alternative that, in the opinion of the NSS, meets the test 
of the Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other 
Assurance and Related Services for those exceptional circumstances when a professional 
accountant may judge it necessary to depart from a basic principle or essential procedure 
of an IS to achieve more effectively the objective of the engagement.2 

                                                 
1 ‘Requirements and guidance’ means: in the case of standards written under the style adopted prior to the clarity 

project, ‘basic principles and essential procedures together with related guidance;’ and in the case of standards 
written under the style subsequently adopted, ‘objectives, requirements and application material.’ In both cases, 
definitions included in the standards and glossary are to be applicable.  

2  This requirement of the Preface is under review. 
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10. Modifications to ISs shall be subject to a satisfactory due process established by the NSS.3 
Furthermore, the NS shall highlight or explain modifications to the ISs. In addition, NSSs 
shall communicate modifications falling within paragraph 9(b), which are expected to be 
rare, to IAASB. 

Other Matters 
11. An NSS to whom this guidance applies may refer to its NSs as conforming to one or more 

of the categories of ISs referred to in paragraph 6(b)-(e) only if the International Standards 
on Quality Control and all current ISs of the relevant category have been included.  Where 
the NSS has not included all current ISs (for example, because of delays in issuing a new 
IS for national use), the NSS shall appropriately qualify the reference to conformity with 
the ISs and clearly disclose which ISs have and have not been included. 

12. IAASB encourages NSSs to maintain a record of how the ISs have been included in the 
NSs, sufficient to demonstrate what has or has not been included, and that such inclusion 
has been effected so as to avoid any change in meaning and effect. 

13. It is recommended that translations of the ISs be made in accordance with a process 
conforming to the Policy Statement, Translation of Standards and Guidance Issued by the 
International Federation of Accountants (issued September 2004). 

                                                 
3  A satisfactory due process is an established and transparent process involving deliberation and consideration of 

the views of a wide range of stakeholders. 
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Appendix 7: Excerpts of international annual reports showcasing 
different ways of reporting on the relationship between directors 
and auditors
(i)	 Australian example: Westpac Group 

(Westpac Group, 2019)
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(ii)	 Canadian example: Suncor Energy Inc.
(Suncor, 2019)
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(iii)	United Kingdom example: Aviva 
(Aviva, 2019)
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(iii)	United Kingdom example: Aviva cont. 
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Appendix 8: Excerpts of New Zealand annual reports showcasing 
different ways of reporting by directors, by the Chair alone or by 
the Chair with the CEO

(i)	 New Zealand example of a joint CEO and Chair’s report: EBOS Group Limited 
(EBOS, 2019)
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(i)	 New Zealand example of a joint CEO and Chair’s report: EBOS Group Limited cont. 
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(i)	 New Zealand example of a joint CEO and Chair’s report: EBOS Group Limited cont. 
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(ii)	 New Zealand example of a ‘Chair only’ and ‘CEO only’ report: Fletcher Building Limited 
(Fletcher Builiding Limited, 2019)
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(ii)	 New Zealand example of a ‘Chair only’ and ‘CEO only’ report: Fletcher Building Limited cont. 
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(ii)	 New Zealand example of a ‘Chair only’ and ‘CEO only’ report: Fletcher Building Limited cont. 
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